
 

February 5, 2025 Agenda   -   Page 1 of 4 
 

 

  

 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION  
OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 
701 Ocean Street, #318-D 

Santa Cruz, CA  95060 
Phone Number: (831) 454-2055 

Website: www.santacruzlafco.org  
Email: info@santacruzlafco.org  

 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Wednesday, February 5, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. 
(hybrid meeting may be attended remotely or in-person) 

 

Attend Meeting by Internet:               https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84543003276                        
                                                                               (Password 452077) 

Attend Meeting by Conference Call:               Dial 1-669-900-6833 or 1-253-215-8782                                                                                   
(Webinar ID: 845 4300 3276) 

Attend Meeting In-Person:                                     Board of Supervisors Chambers 
(701 Ocean Street, Room 525, Santa Cruz CA  95060) 

 
HYBRID MEETING PROCESS 

Santa Cruz LAFCO has established a hybrid meeting process in accordance with 
Assembly Bill 2449: 
 
a) Commission Quorum: State law indicates that a quorum must consist of 

Commissioners in person pursuant to AB 2449.  
 

b) Public Comments: For those wishing to make public comments remotely, identified 
individuals will be given up to three (3) minutes to speak. Staff will inform the individual 
when one minute is left and when their time is up. For those attending the meeting 
remotely, please click on the “Raise Hand” button under the “Reactions Tab” to raise 
your hand. For those joining via conference call, pressing *9 will raise your hand. The 
three (3) minute limit also applies to virtual public comments.  
 

c) Accommodations for Persons with Disabilities: Santa Cruz LAFCO does not 
discriminate on the basis of disability, and no person shall, by reason of a disability, 
be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with 
a disability and wish to attend the meeting, but require special assistance in order to 
participate, please contact the staff at (831) 454-2055 at least 24 hours in advance of 
the meeting to make the appropriate arrangements. Persons with disabilities may also 
request a copy of the agenda in an alternative format.  

 
 

Page 1 of 106

http://www.santacruzlafco.org/
mailto:info@santacruzlafco.org
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84543003276


 

February 5, 2025 Agenda   -   Page 2 of 4 
 

1. ROLL CALL 
 

2. EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S MESSAGE  
The Executive Officer may make brief announcements in the form of a written report 
or verbal update, and may not require Commission action.  
 
a. Hybrid Meeting Process 

The Commission will receive an update on the hybrid meeting process. 

Recommended Action: No action required; Informational item only. 
 

b. Welcome Recently Appointed Commissioners 
The Commission will welcome the new City and County members on LAFCO. 

Recommended Action: No action required; Informational item only. 
 

3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
The Commission will consider approving the minutes from the November 6, 2024 
Regular LAFCO Meeting.  
 
Recommended Action: Approve the minutes as presented with any desired changes. 
 

4. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
This is an opportunity for members of the public to address the Commission on items 
not on the agenda, provided that the subject matter is within the jurisdiction of the 
Commission and that no action may be taken on an off-agenda item(s) unless 
authorized by law. 
 

5. SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
This is an opportunity for the Commission to receive special presentations from local, 
regional, or state agencies / representatives regarding LAFCO-related matters. These 
presentations may or may not require Commission action.  
 
a. Scotts Valley Fire Protection District – “Life After Reorganization” 

The Commission will receive an update from Fire Chief Mark Correira regarding 
the reorganization involving the Branciforte and Scotts Valley Fire Protection 
Districts approved by the Commission in August 2023.   

Recommended Action: No action required; Informational item only. 
 

b. Big Basin Water Company – Moonshot Missions Report 
The Commission will receive an update from Senior Program Manager Lydia 
Rossiter regarding the Big Basin Water Company and Moonshot Missions’ recent 
analysis report of the private water provider.   

Recommended Action: No action required; Informational item only. 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
Public hearing items require expanded public notification per provisions in State law, 
directives of the Commission, or are those voluntarily placed by the Executive Officer 
to facilitate broader discussion.  
 

None 
Page 2 of 106



 

February 5, 2025 Agenda   -   Page 3 of 4 
 

7. OTHER BUSINESS 
Other business items involve administrative, budgetary, legislative, or personnel 
matters and may or may not be subject to public hearings. 
 
a. Appoint New Chair and Vice-Chair 

The Commission will consider selecting its new Chair and Vice-Chair for LAFCO. 

Recommended Action: Select Chair and Vice-Chair for the 2025 calendar year. 
 

b. CSA 38 Service & Sphere Review Update 
The Commission will receive an update on the recommended actions identified in 
the adopted service and sphere review for County Service Area 38.  

Recommended Action: Receive and file the update from CSA 38. 
 

c. UC Berkeley Water Report & Potential Legislative Action 
The Commission will receive an update on a statewide effort to empower LAFCOs 
to assist on water-related issues throughout California.  

Recommended Action: Direct staff to continue working with the stakeholder group. 
 

d. Comprehensive Quarterly Report – Second Quarter (FY 2024-25) 
The Commission will receive an update on active proposals, upcoming service 
reviews, budgetary performance, and other staff activities.  

Recommended Action: No action required; Informational item only. 
 

8. WRITTEN CORRESPONDENCE 
LAFCO staff receive written correspondence and other materials on occasion that may 
or may not be related to a specific agenda item. Any correspondence presented to the 
Commission will also be made available to the general public. Any written 
correspondence distributed to the Commission less than 72 hours prior to the meeting 
will be made available for inspection at the hearing and posted on LAFCO’s website. 
 

9. PRESS ARTICLES 
LAFCO staff monitors newspapers, publications, and other media outlets for any news 
affecting local cities, districts, and communities in Santa Cruz County. Articles are 
presented to the Commission on a periodic basis. 

 
a. Press Articles during the Months of October to December 2024 

The Commission will receive an update on recent LAFCO-related news occurring 
around the county and throughout California.  

Recommended Action: No action required; Informational item only. 
 

10. COMMISSIONERS’ BUSINESS 
This is an opportunity for Commissioners to comment briefly on issues not listed on 
the agenda, provided that the subject matter is within the jurisdiction of the 
Commission. No discussion or action may occur or be taken, except to place the item 
on a future agenda if approved by a Commission majority. The public may address 
the Commission on these informational matters. 

Page 3 of 106



 

February 5, 2025 Agenda   -   Page 4 of 4 
 

11. CLOSED SESSION 
Pursuant to State law, a closed session may be held to appoint, employ, evaluate the 
performance of, discipline, or dismiss a public employee. Prior to the closed session, 
the public is invited to address the Commission regarding the closed session items. 

 
a. Public Employee Performance Evaluation 

Pursuant to: Government Code Section 54957  
Title: Executive Officer 
 

b. Conference with Labor Negotiators 
Pursuant to: Government Code Section 54957.6 
Agency designated representatives: Personnel Committee 
Unrepresented Employee: Executive Officer 

 
12. ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM CLOSED SESSION 

The Chair and/or Legal Counsel will indicate whether there were any reportable 
actions from the Closed Session.  
 

13. ADJOURNMENT 
LAFCO’s next regular meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, March 5, 2025 at  
9:00 a.m.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADDITIONAL NOTICES: 
Campaign Contributions 
State law (Government Code Section 84308) requires that a LAFCO Commissioner disqualify themselves from voting on an application involving an 
“entitlement for use” (such as an annexation or sphere amendment) if, within the last twelve months, the Commissioner has received $250 or more in 
campaign contributions from an applicant, any financially interested person who actively supports or opposes an application, or an agency (such as an 
attorney, engineer, or planning consultant) representing an applicant or interested participant. The law also requires any applicant or other participant in 
a LAFCO proceeding to disclose the amount and name of the recipient Commissioner on the official record of the proceeding. The Commission prefers 
that the disclosure be made on a standard form that is filed with LAFCO staff at least 24 hours before the LAFCO hearing begins. If this is not possible, 
a written or oral disclosure can be made at the beginning of the hearing. The law also prohibits an applicant or other participant from making a contribution 
of $250 or more to a LAFCO Commissioner while a proceeding is pending or for 3 months afterward. Disclosure forms and further information can be 
obtained from the LAFCO office at Room #318-D, 701 Ocean Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 (phone 831-454-2055). 
 

Contributions and Expenditures Supporting and Opposing Proposals 
Pursuant to Government Code Sections §56100.1, §56300(b), §56700.1, §59009, and §81000 et seq., and Santa Cruz LAFCO’s Policies and Procedures 
for the Disclosures of Contributions and Expenditures in Support of and Opposition to proposals, any person or combination of persons who directly or 
indirectly contributes a total of $1,000 or more or expends a total of $1,000 or more in support of or opposition to a LAFCO Proposal must comply with 
the disclosure requirements of the Political Reform Act (Section 84250). These requirements contain provisions for making disclosures of contributions 
and expenditures at specified intervals. Additional information may be obtained at the Santa Cruz County Elections Department, 701 Ocean Street, Room 
210, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 (phone 831-454-2060). More information on the scope of the required disclosures is available at the web site of the Fair 
Political Practices Commission: www.fppc.ca.gov. Questions regarding FPPC material, including FPPC forms, should be directed to the FPPC’s advice 
line at 1-866-ASK-FPPC (1-866-275-3772). 
 

Accommodating People with Disabilities 
The Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa Cruz County does not discriminate on the basis of disability, and no person shall, by reason of a 
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs or activities. The Commission meetings are held in an accessible facility. If you wish to attend 
this meeting and will require special assistance in order to participate, please contact the LAFCO office at 831-454-2055 at least 24 hours in advance of 
the meeting to make arrangements. For TDD service, the California State Relay Service 1-800-735-2929 will provide a link between the caller and the 
LAFCO staff. 
 

Late Agenda Materials 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.5 public records that relate to open session agenda items that are distributed to a majority of the 
Commission less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the meeting will be available to the public at Santa Cruz LAFCO offices at 701 Ocean Street, #318-
D, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 during regular business hours. These records, when possible, will also be made available on the LAFCO website at 
www.santacruzlafco.org. To review written materials submitted after the agenda packet is published, contact staff at the LAFCO office or in the meeting 
room before or after the meeting. 

Page 4 of 106

http://www.fppc.ca.gov/
http://www.santacruzlafco.org/


 

November 6, 2024 Minutes 
 Page 1 of 7 

 

  

 

 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION  
OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

LAFCO REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Wednesday, November 6, 2024 
Start Time - 9:00 a.m. 

 

1. ROLL CALL 
Chair John Hunt called the meeting of the Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa 
Cruz County (LAFCO) to order at 9:09 a.m. and welcomed everyone in attendance. He 
asked the staff to conduct the roll call.  

The following Commissioners were present: 

• Commissioner Jim Anderson 
• Commissioner Roger Anderson 
• Commissioner Justin Cummings 
• Commissioner Manu Koenig (Vice-Chair) 
• Commissioner Rachél Lather (arrived at 9:14 a.m.) 
• Commissioner Eduardo Montesino 
• Commissioner Allan Timms 
• Alternate Commissioner Ed Banks 
• Alternate Commissioner Zach Friend (arrived at 9:12 a.m.) 
• Alternate Commissioner John Hunt (Chair) 

 
Alternate Commissioner Ed Banks was a voting member until the arrival of 

Commissioner Rachél Lather (District Member). 
 
The following LAFCO staff members were present: 

• LAFCO Analyst, Francisco Estrada 
• Legal Counsel, Joshua Nelson 
• Executive Officer, Joe Serrano 

2. EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S MESSAGE  
2a. Virtual Meeting Process 

Executive Officer Joe Serrano indicated that the meeting was being conducted through 
a hybrid approach with Commissioners and staff attending in-person while members of 
the public have the option to attend virtually or in-person.  

Page 5 of 106



 

November 6, 2024 Minutes 
 Page 2 of 7 

 

2b. CALAFCO Conference Update  
Executive Officer Joe Serrano shared that Santa Cruz LAFCO received the Mike Gotch 
Excellence in Public Service Innovation Award for the Big Basin Water Company 

Governance Options Report at the 2024 CALAFCO Annual Conference.  
 
2c. Upcoming Seat Vacancies (City and District Representation on LAFCO) 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano provided an update regarding the upcoming seat 
vacancies on the Commission for 2025, which includes Capitola and Scotts Valley 
rotating a regular member seat, two district member seats with terms ending in May, and 
the appointment of a new county member to replace the departing Zach Friend. 
 
Chair John Hunt moved on to the next agenda item. 

3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
Chair John Hunt requested public comments on the draft minutes. Executive Officer 
Joe Serrano noted no public comment on the item. Chair John Hunt closed public 
comments. 
 
Chair John Hunt called for a motion. Commissioner Jim Anderson motioned for 
approval of the October 2nd Meeting Minutes and Commissioner Manu Koenig 
seconded the motion. 
 
Chair John Hunt called for a voice vote on the approval of the draft minutes.  

MOTION:  Jim Anderson 
SECOND: Manu Koenig 
FOR: Jim Anderson, Roger Anderson, Ed Banks, Justin Cummings,  

Manu Koenig, Eduardo Montesino, and Allan Timms. 
AGAINST: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
 
MOTION PASSES: 7-0 
 
4. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
Chair John Hunt requested public comments on any non-agenda items. Executive 
Officer Joe Serrano indicated that there was no request to address the Commission on 
the item.  
 
Chair John Hunt closed public comments and moved on to the next agenda item. 
 
5. SPECIAL PRESENTATION  
5a. Resolution of Appreciation for Commissioner Zach Friend’s Distinguished 
Public Service and Leadership 

Chair John Hunt requested staff to make a presentation honoring the 11 years of service 
by Zach Friend on the LAFCO Commission.  
 

Page 6 of 106



 

November 6, 2024 Minutes 
 Page 3 of 7 

 

Executive Officer Joe Serrano thanked and discussed the impact of Commissioner 
Zach Friend’s service on Santa Cruz LAFCO for the past 11 years. LAFCO Analyst 
Francisco Estrada also shared words of gratitude for Mr. Friend.  
 
Chair John Hunt opened the floor for commission discussion. Commissioners Rachél 
Lather, Manu Koenig, Justin Cummings, Roger Anderson, Eduardo Montesino, Jim 
Anderson, Allan Timms, and John Hunt expressed their appreciation for Commissioner 
Zach Friend’s distinguished career on the commission.  
 
Chair John Hunt called for a motion. Commissioner Manu Koenig motioned for 
approval of staff recommendation and Commissioner Eduardo Montesino seconded 
the motion. 
 
Chair John Hunt called for a voice vote on the motion based on the staff 
recommendation: Adopt the draft resolution (No. 2024-17) for outgoing 
Commissioner Zach Friend.  
 
MOTION:  Manu Koenig 
SECOND: Eduardo Montesino 
FOR: Jim Anderson, Roger Anderson, Justin Cummings,  

Manu Koenig, Rachél Lather, Eduardo Montesino, and Allan Timms. 
AGAINST: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
 
MOTION PASSES: 7-0 
 
Commissioner Zach Friend spoke on the importance and role of LAFCO in our county 
and across the state and mentioned that local governments and agencies will play a larger 
role in this country moving forward. He also encouraged the commission to continue 
finding ways to work together on difficult issues that may arise.  
 
Chair John Hunt moved to the next item. 
 
6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
Chair John Hunt noted that there was no public hearing item for Commission 
consideration today.  
 
Chair John Hunt moved on to the next agenda item. 
 
7. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
7a. Big Basin Water Company – Status Update  
Chair John Hunt requested staff to provide an update on the status of the Big Basin 
Water Company, including the forensic audit completed by a non-profit organization.  
 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano informed the Commission that LAFCO staff were invited 
to present on the Big Basin Water Company (BBWC) at the CALAFCO annual 
conference. The presentation was well received. Representatives from the court receiver, 
the nonprofit Moonshot Missions, and Supervisor Bruce McPherson’s office joined Santa 

Page 7 of 106



 

November 6, 2024 Minutes 
 Page 4 of 7 

 

Cruz LAFCO to discuss the current state of BBWC, the status of private water companies 
across the state, and explained how LAFCOs can play a role in supporting small systems 
to be successful. Mr. Serrano also informed the Commission that Moonshot Missions had 
completed its technical audit of the BBWC and stated that staff can arrange to have a 
representative present on the report’s findings at a future meeting. The report provides 
the public with over 50 recommendations to move forward, mirroring the governance 
options report developed by LAFCO staff. Mr. Serrano did note that the difference 
between the two reports is that the report from Moonshot Mission contains a greater 
degree of technical evaluation. LAFCO staff will continue to coordinate with partnering 
agencies and local state leaders to support the residents of Big Basin.  
 
Chair John Hunt requested public comments on the item. Executive Officer Joe 
Serrano noted a request to address the Commission on the item.  
 
Becky Steinbruner, a member of the public, discussed the state’s goal regarding small 
water systems, supported the option of a special presentation from Moonshot Missions, 
and believes that a “Connecting the Drops” event hosted by LAFCO would benefit the 
general public. She also had a question about a recommendation from the report. 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano made clarifications on the report’s recommendations, 
and provided an update on the proposed “Connecting the Drops” event and other 
upcoming educational workshops. 
 
Commissioner Rachél Lather requested an opportunity to connect with a representative 
from Moonshot Missions to provide updated information. Executive Officer Joe Serrano 
said he would follow up with the request.  
 
Commissioner Roger Anderson commended the efforts and presentation made by 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano at the CALAFCO Annual Conference.  
 
Commissioner Justin Cummings agreed that outreach to the public is important and 
appreciated efforts by LAFCO staff to host workshops at different locations throughout 
the county. Executive Officer Joe Serrano stated that LAFCO wants all small private 
water systems to succeed and reiterated that LAFCO should be seen as a trusted partner.   
 
Chair John Hunt called for a motion. Commissioner Jim Anderson motioned for 
approval of staff recommendation and Commissioner Justin Cummings seconded the 
motion. 
 
Chair John Hunt called for a voice vote on the motion based on the staff 
recommendation: Receive and file the forensic audit developed by Moonshot 
Missions as part of the collaboration between the court receiver and LAFCO.  
 
MOTION:  Jim Anderson 
SECOND: Justin Cummings 
FOR: Jim Anderson, Roger Anderson, Justin Cummings,  

Manu Koenig, Rachél Lather, Eduardo Montesino, and Allan Timms. 
AGAINST: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
 
MOTION PASSES: 7-0 

Page 8 of 106



 

November 6, 2024 Minutes 
 Page 5 of 7 

 

7b. Multi-Year Work Program Update 

Chair John Hunt requested staff to provide a presentation on the new multi-year work 
program to accomplish the next round of service reviews and sphere updates.  
 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano informed the Commission that in 2019, LAFCO adopted 
its first multi-year work program, which provided a five-year roadmap to conduct service 
reviews and sphere updates in Santa Cruz County. At the conclusion of the initial cycle, 
the number of public agencies in the county decreased from 81 to 77. Mr. Serrano 
highlighted the role of LAFCO in promoting efficient governance, provided a description 
of the next workplan cycle (2025-2029), and indicated that the new healthcare district 
located in south county will be reviewed in 2025 as mandated by state law. 
 
Chair John Hunt requested public comments on the item. Executive Officer Joe 
Serrano noted a request to address the Commission on the item.  
 
Becky Steinbruner, a member of the public, appreciated staff’s detailed workplan, 
commented on the upcoming healthcare district service and sphere review, and 
discussed the Watsonville Municipal Airport.  
 
Chair John Hunt closed public comments and opened the floor for Commission 
discussion. Commissioner Jim Anderson motioned for approval of staff 
recommendation and Commissioner Roger Anderson seconded the motion.  
 
Chair John Hunt called for a voice vote on the motion based on the staff 
recommendation: Adopt the proposed multi-year work program (2025-2029).   
 
MOTION:  Jim Anderson 
SECOND: Roger Anderson 
FOR: Jim Anderson, Roger Anderson, Justin Cummings,  

Manu Koenig, Rachél Lather, Eduardo Montesino, and Allan Timms. 
AGAINST: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
 
MOTION PASSES: 7-0 
 
7c. LAFCO Meeting Schedule (2025 Calendar) 

Chair John Hunt requested staff to provide a presentation on the 2025 LAFCO meeting 
schedule.   
 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano presented the 2025 LAFCO meeting schedule, noting 
that the January 8th meeting will be held in Watsonville and discussed the need to relocate 
the June 4th meeting to address a scheduling conflict.  
 
Commissioner Justin Cummings recommended having the June meeting in 
Watsonville and motioned to adopt the 2025 LAFCO meeting schedule. Commissioner 
Roger Anderson seconded the motion.  
 

Page 9 of 106



 

November 6, 2024 Minutes 
 Page 6 of 7 

 

Chair John Hunt called for a voice vote on the motion based on the recommendation: 
Adopt the meeting schedule for the 2025 calendar year and hold the June 4th 
LAFCO Meeting in the Watsonville City Council Chambers.  
 
MOTION:  Justin Cummings 
SECOND: Roger Anderson 
FOR: Jim Anderson, Roger Anderson, Justin Cummings,  

Manu Koenig, Rachél Lather, Eduardo Montesino, and Allan Timms. 
AGAINST: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
 
MOTION PASSES: 7-0 
 
7d. Comprehensive Quarterly Report – First Quarter (FY 2024-25) 

Chair John Hunt requested staff to provide a presentation on the quarterly report.  
 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano explained that the report is meant to keep the 
Commission informed about all LAFCO-related activities, including the status of active 
proposals, the schedule of upcoming service reviews, the current financial performance 
of LAFCO’s adopted budget, and other projects during the first quarter of FY 2024-25. 
Mr. Serrano also mentioned that LAFCO staff would need to revisit apportionment 
allocation amounts for the funding agencies in 2025.  
 
Chair John Hunt requested public comments on the item. Executive Officer Joe 
Serrano noted no public comment on the item. Chair John Hunt closed public 
comments.  
 
Chair John Hunt moved to the next item since no Commission action was required. 
 
8. WRITTEN CORRESPONDENCE 
Chair John Hunt inquired whether there was any written correspondence submitted to 
LAFCO. Executive Officer Joe Serrano indicated that two correspondences had been 
submitted, one from a member of the public and one from Orange County LAFCO. 
 
Chair John Hunt moved to the next item since no Commission action was required. 
 
9. PRESS ARTICLES 
Chair John Hunt requested staff to provide a presentation on the press articles. 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano indicated that this item highlights LAFCO-related articles 
recently circulated in local newspapers.  
 
Chair John Hunt requested public comments on the item. Executive Officer Joe 
Serrano noted a request to address the Commission on the item.  
 
Becky Steinbruner, a member of the public, commented on articles related to healthcare 
districts.  
 

Page 10 of 106



 

November 6, 2024 Minutes 
 Page 7 of 7 

 

Chair John Hunt moved to the next item since no Commission action was required. 
  
10. COMMISSIONERS’ BUSINESS 
Chair John Hunt inquired whether any Commissioner would like to share any 
information. Executive Officer Joe Serrano indicated that there were no requests to 
share any information. 
 
Chair John Hunt moved to the next item since no Commission action was required. 
 
11. ADJOURNMENT 

Chair John Hunt adjourned the Regular Commission Meeting at 9:52 a.m. to the next 
regular LAFCO meeting scheduled for Wednesday, January 8, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. in the 
Watsonville City Council Chambers. 

 
 
 

________________________________________ 
JOHN HUNT, CHAIRPERSON 
 
 
Attest:  
 
 
_______________________________________ 
FRANCISCO ESTRADA, LAFCO ANALYST 

Page 11 of 106



Chair and Vice Chair Appointment Staff Report     Page 1 of 1 

 

Date:   February 5, 2025 
To:       LAFCO Commissioners 
From:   Joe Serrano, Executive Officer
Subject:  Selection of New LAFCO Chair and Vice-Chair 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
The Commission selects a new Chair and Vice-Chair at the first meeting of each year. It 
is recommended that the Commission discuss and appoint a new LAFCO Chair and Vice-
Chair for the 2025 calendar year. 
______________________________________________________________________ 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT: 
In accordance with the Commission’s Meeting Policy, at its first regular meeting of the 
calendar year, the Commission shall choose two of its members to function as the Chair 
and Vice-Chair. The new officers will serve the balance of the calendar year or until the 
election of their successors occurs in the event of a vacancy. Once selected, the new 
officers will begin their appointments at the March 5th LAFCO Meeting. There is currently 
no rule of succession or rotation. Historically, the acting Vice-Chair has been elected to 
be the new Chair. Past officers for the last nine years are listed below. 

Table 1: Chair and Vice-Chair Appointments (2016 – 2024) 
Calendar Year Chair Vice-Chair 

2016 Roger Anderson (Public) Tom LaHue (District) 
2017 Tom LaHue (District) John Leopold (County) 
2018 John Leopold (County) Jim Anderson (District) 
2019 Jim Anderson (District) Roger Anderson (Public) 
2020 Roger Anderson (Public) Justin Cummings (City) 
2021 Justin Cummings (City) Rachél Lather (District) 
2022 Rachél Lather (District) Yvette Brooks (City) 
2023 Yvette Brooks (City) John Hunt (Public) 
2024 John Hunt (Public) Manu Koenig (County) 

The Commission’s roster, with their respective term limits, is attached to this staff report. 
Staff recommends the Commission discuss and select a Chair and Vice-Chair for this 
new calendar year.   

Respectfully Submitted, 

Joe A. Serrano 
Executive Officer 

Attachment: Current Commission Roster 

Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation Commission 

Agenda 

Item 

No. 7a 

Page 12 of 106



Latest Data as of 1/29/25

LAFCO TERMS OF OFFICE 
Representation (Seat) Term Limit (Ending Date) Commissioner (Current) 

Regular Members 

1. County Seat May 2028 Manu Koenig (BOS District 1) 

2. County Seat May 2027 Justin Cummings (BOS District 3) 

3. City Seat January 2027 Joe Clarke (Capitola) 

4. City Seat January 2026 Eduardo Montesino (Watsonville) 

5. District Seat May 2025 Jim Anderson (Felton Fire) 

6. District Seat May 2027 Rachél Lather (Soquel Creek Water) 

7. Public Seat May 2028 Roger Anderson (County Resident) 

Alternate Members 

8. County Seat May 2028 Kimberly De Serpa (BOS District 2) 

9. City Seat January 2026 Fred Keeley (Santa Cruz) 

10. District Seat May 2025 Ed Banks (Pajaro Valley Public Cemetery) 

11. Public Seat May 2028 John Hunt (County Resident) 

Footnotes: 

a) City Representation – City members are elected by the city selection committee,
which is composed of the presiding mayor or designated council member from each
of the four cities (Capitola, Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley, and Watsonville). The city
rotation goes with the city and not with the person. In 2023, a new rotation schedule
was adopted by the committee with two-year term limits ending in January.

b) District Representation - Special district members are elected by the special district
selection committee, which is made up of one voting member from each Independent
Special District Board with four-year term limits ending in May.

c) County Representation – The county members are appointed each January by the
Board of Supervisors and may change each year at that time. The four-year term limits
end in May.

d) Public Representation – The public members are appointed by the Commission
when a vacancy occurs. The four-year term limits end in May.

7A: ATTACHMENT 1

Page 13 of 106



 

CSA 38 Service & Sphere Review Staff Report                                                        Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Date:   February 5, 2025 
To:       LAFCO Commissioners 
From:   Joe Serrano, Executive Officer 
Subject:   CSA 38 Service & Sphere Review Update 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
The Commission adopted a service and sphere review for County Service Area 38 (CSA 
38) on January 10, 2024. Several conditions were adopted as part of the service review, 
including a condition that the County develop a webpage disclosing CSA 38’s operations, 
governance, and finances. The deadline to create this informational site was January 30, 
2025. The Commission also directed LAFCO staff to provide an update on February 5, 
2025 to determine if the County fulfilled the Commission’s recommendations. This 
agenda item is for informational purposes only and does not require any action. 
Therefore, it is recommended that the Commission receive and file the Executive Officer’s 
report.  
 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
The CSA was created in 1983 as a funding mechanism to provide “extended police 
protection” in areas outside the four cities. Based on LAFCO’s analysis in the January 
2024 service review1, a clear correlation between CSA 38 and the County Sheriff 
Department could not be established. LAFCO was unable to determine how CSA 38 
provides services, how many employees operate the district, whether the CSA had a 
standalone board and regular meetings, and could not locate an official webpage. As a 
result, LAFCO reaffirmed the CSA’s sphere boundary with the condition that the County 
create a webpage dedicated to CSA 38 and/or add CSA 38 related information to the 
County Sheriff Department’s website. This recommendation had a deadline of January 
30, 2025. If the task was not completed, LAFCO was set to revisit the District’s sphere 
designation and discuss the CSA’s future.   

 
CONCLUSION 
The County worked diligently with LAFCO staff to complete the recommended action 
following the adoption of the service and sphere review. LAFCO staff is happy to report 
that the County launched a dedicated webpage for CSA 38 in August 2024 – well before 
the January 30, 2025 deadline. The following link directs you to the new webpage: 
https://shf.santacruzcountyca.gov/SheriffHome/Transparency/CountyServiceArea38.aspx.  
 
Figure A on page 2 also shows a screenshot of the new webpage. This site includes 
information about CSA 38’s history, governance, service area, and finances. Additionally, 
the webpage provides maps, census data, and contact information. In summary, the 
completion of this recommended action now provides the public with an online resource 
showing CSA 38’s purpose, function, and governance. LAFCO staff appreciates the 
County’s efforts in completing this task, specifically Melodye Serino (Deputy County 
Administrative Officer), Jim Hart (former County Sheriff), and Carlos Palacio  
(County Administrative Officer).  

 
1 CSA 38 MSR: https://santacruzlafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CSA-38-MSR-Adopted-Version.pdf  

Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation Commission 

Agenda 

Item  

No. 7b 

Page 14 of 106

https://shf.santacruzcountyca.gov/SheriffHome/Transparency/CountyServiceArea38.aspx
https://santacruzlafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CSA-38-MSR-Adopted-Version.pdf


 

CSA 38 Service & Sphere Review Staff Report                                                        Page 2 of 2 
 

Figure A: Screenshot of New CSA 38 Webpage 
 

 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Joe A. Serrano 
Executive Officer 
 
cc:  Chris Clark, Santa Cruz County Sheriff Department 
 Matt Machado, Santa Cruz County Public Works Department 
 Carlos Palacio, Santa Cruz County Administrative Office 

Page 15 of 106



UC Berkeley Water Report & Potential Legislation Staff Report    Page 1 of 3 

 
Date:   February 5, 2025 
To:     LAFCO Commissioners 
From:   Joe Serrano, Executive Officer 
Subject:  UC Berkeley Water Report & Potential Legislative Action 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
A report about LAFCOs and their ability to address water-related issues facing California 
was published in early-2024. The report garnered attention from various statewide 
organizations, specifically the Community Water Center and the Leadership Counsel for 
Justice & Accountability. These organizations formed a stakeholder group in late-2024 
with representatives from the two universities and several LAFCOs to utilize the report’s 
findings as the basis of proposed legislative action to grant LAFCOs across the state with 
additional tools to address local water issues. It is recommended that the Commission 
direct staff to continue working with the stakeholder group. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
UC Berkeley and UCLA, under the University of California Agriculture and Natural 
Resources Division, co-authored a report in January 2024 that analyzed the current 
oversight of public and private water systems in California by LAFCO agencies. 
Attachment 1 provides a copy of the water report. The University interviewed state 
regulators and LAFCO representatives, received input from state technical assistance 
providers, and conducted a survey of LAFCO Executive Officers to gather information for 
their report. As a result, their evaluation aimed to cover three key areas: 

1) Highlight the important intersections between LAFCOs’ local planning and regulatory
roles and state policies and programs that prioritize water system consolidation as a
safe drinking water solution;

2) Identify the challenges at these intersections that limit progress on shared goals; and

3) Provide recommendations to begin to address these challenges.

Key Takeaway 
While the report did highlight some proactive LAFCO agencies and effective service and 
sphere reviews (such as Santa Cruz LAFCO’s 2022 countywide water report), the authors 
concluded that the lack of information sharing and LAFCO’s limited abilities to initiate 
possible solutions (ex. annexations) were the primary challenges for local and state 
regulators to address water quality and delivery issues in California. The overarching 
theme was clear – there was a glaring need for more facilitation, communication, and 
data sharing among private systems, local governments, state organizations, and the 
public. These findings garnered the attention of two statewide organizations: the 
Community Water Center (CWC) and the Leadership Counsel for Justice & Accountability 
(LCJA). These two organizations were instrumental in the enactment of Senate Bill 2441 
and Senate Bill 13182, both of which empowered LAFCOs to help disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities facing water issues.  

1 SB 244: https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201120120SB244  
2 SB 1318: https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160SB1318 

Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation Commission 

Agenda 

Item 

No. 7c 

Page 16 of 106

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201120120SB244
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160SB1318


 

UC Berkeley Water Report & Potential Legislation Staff Report                                            Page 2 of 3 
 

The Community Water Center is a non-profit organization which was formed in 2006 for 
the purpose of realizing the human right to water for all communities in California through 
education, organizing, and advocacy. Their main office is located at the heart of San 
Joaquin Valley in Visalia, and in 2012 they opened a second office in Sacramento in order 
to bring their advocacy to the statewide level. In 2018, they expanded and opened a third 
office in Watsonville. The Leadership Counsel for Justice & Accountability is a community-
based advocacy organization headquartered in Fresno, California, with offices in 
Coachella, Bakersfield, Merced and Sacramento. Their mission is to work alongside the 
most impacted communities to advocate for sound policy and eradicate injustice to secure 
equal access to opportunity regardless of wealth, race, income, and place. 

 
Potential Legislative Bill 
In order to address the ongoing challenges in advancing the State’s interest in making 
public water systems more resilient through consolidations, with a specific focus on 
disadvantaged and otherwise underserved communities, a stakeholder group was formed 
with representatives from the two universities, CWC, LCJA, and various LAFCOs. 
Attachment 2 provides a copy of a joint letter signed by the stakeholders to advance the 
water report’s recommendations. Specifically, the letter identifies three legislative 
proposals:  
 
• Amplify MSRs Role in Communicating Community Needs  

Amend California Government Code 56430 and its provisions on preparing municipal 
service reviews to require LAFCOs to take up these studies at noticed hearings as 
well as require the affected agencies to formally receive the studies at their own 
noticed hearing and providing confirmation of doing so back to LAFCOs.    
 

• Expand LAFCOs ability to initiate organizations and reorganizations under 
certain circumstances 
Amend California Government Code 56375(a) and its enumeration of LAFCO initiating 
powers to support timely water or wastewater services consistent with community 
needs.   
 

• Address Service Barriers for Mutual Water Companies and Mobile Home Parks 
Amend California Government Code 56036 and its definition of “special district” for 
LAFCO purposes to include mutual water companies. Similarly, amend California 
Corporations Code Section 14300 to address known gaps. 
 

Next Steps 
The stakeholder group is currently developing support documents such as a fact sheet 
for additional context and a first draft of the proposed bill language. Additionally, the group 
is searching for possible bill authors. Santa Cruz LAFCO is currently scheduling meetings 
with our local representatives, including but not limited to Senator John Laird, to discuss 
the recent water report and potential bill. LAFCO staff will continue to provide periodic 
updates to the Commission as the process unfolds. In conclusion, LAFCO staff is 
recommending that the Commission direct staff to continue working with the stakeholder 
group.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17 of 106



 

UC Berkeley Water Report & Potential Legislation Staff Report                                            Page 3 of 3 
 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Joe A. Serrano 
Executive Officer 
 
Attachments:  
 
1) UC Berkeley Water Report 
2) Joint Letter of Legislative Interest  

  
 
cc:  University Water Report Authors 
 Justin McBride (UCLA) 

Kristin Dobbin (UC Berkeley) 
 

 Community Water Center  
Janaki Anagha 
Kyle Jones 
Abraham Mendoza 
 
Leadership Counsel for Justice & Accountability 
Nataly Escobedo Garcia 
Andrés Ramos 
 
Other LAFCOs 
Carolyn Emery (Orange) 
Brendon Freeman (Napa) 
Jose Henriquez (Sacramento) 
Rachel Jones (Alameda) 
Steve Lucas (Butte) 
Keene Simonds (San Diego) 
 

Page 18 of 106



LAFCo and 
Water System 
Consolidation: 

Bridging the gap between 
local and state regulators 

to stop and reverse 
water system fragmentation

JANUARY 2024

7C: ATTACHMENT 1

Page 19 of 106



Authors
Kristin Dobbin, Assistant Professor of Cooperative Extension at the University of California 
Berkeley and the Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources
Justin McBride, PhD Candidate in Urban Planning at the University of California Los Angeles 

Acknowledgements 
This report was made possible by generous funding from the University of California Agriculture 
and Natural Resources (Award# 23-7000). We thank Emily Scott for the design of this report 
and Sunny Singhal for his help with editing. We would also like to thank the following participants 
in the consolidations research advisory committee for helping to inform the design and 
implementation of the project: Michael Claiborne, Nataly Escobedo Garcia, Blanca Surgeon, 
Sara Luquin, Carlos Bravo, Janaki Anagha, Katrina Hiott, Sergio Carranza, Reyna Rodriguez, 
Bryan Potter, Allisa Hastie, Khalid Osman, and Greg Pierce. Many additional external reviewers 
from around the state provided valuable feedback on our initial draft for which we are extremely 
grateful. Any errors are ours alone.

For more information contact Kristin Dobbin at kbdobbin@berkeley.edu

Page 20 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    3

              
Introduction              

In 2012, California passed AB 685 enshrining 
the human right to water into state law. Achieving 
this vision is not a simple task, instead it requires 
ongoing commitment and investment by state 
legislators and regulators. Water system 
consolidation, or the merging of two or more water 
systems, has increasingly become a focus of these 
efforts due to a wide array of potential benefits. 
This is particularly true for the state’s very small 
water systems, many of which struggle to achieve 
consistent regulatory compliance. In the hopes 
of halting and reversing the proliferation of small 
water systems, California has implemented policy 
changes including developing financial incentives 
for larger water systems to consolidate small 
systems, introducing new powers to mandate 
consolidation under specific circumstances, and 
working to limit permits for new water systems 
in favor of extending existing systems. With 
these efforts as well as unprecedented financial 
investments in consolidation through the new Safe 
and Affordable Funding for Equity and Resilience 
(SAFER) program, the state has reduced the total 
number of public water systems by more than 3% 
in the last 9 years.1

Despite these successes, implementing 
consolidations in an efficient and equitable manner 
continues to be a difficult task. A large array of 
challenges from local politics to funding regularly 
delay and sometimes prevent consolidations, both 
between existing systems and for systems intended 
to serve new industrial or residential development. 
This report focuses on one such challenge, the 
need to coordinate and align actions by state and 
local regulators. Under the Federal Safe Drinking 
Water Act, the state of California is responsible for 
ensuring compliance among public water systems. 
This role has put the State Water Resources Control 
Board (SWRCB) at the forefront of efforts to reduce 
the number of small water systems. Nonetheless, 
changes to drinking water services often impli-
cate changes to local government, thus requiring 
consultation with, and sometimes the approval of, 
local regulators. 

In particular, in California, county Local Agency 
Formation Commissions, known as LAFCos, are 
regional planning and regulatory agencies tasked 
with “coordinating logical and timely changes in 
local government boundaries, conducting special 
studies that review ways to reorganize, simplify and 
streamline governmental structure and preparing 
a sphere of influence for each city and special 
district within each county.”2 In this capacity, they 
have a critical role to play in promoting and imple-
menting water system consolidations for existing 
and proposed water systems. Because LAFCos 
regulate boundaries between most public agencies, 
they often have the final say over water system 
consolidation projects that involve a local govern-
ment entity including special districts and cities. 
Yet in practice, many water system consolidations 
are conceived of and planned without input from 
local planners and may only come before LAFCo 
for formal review after significant resources 
have already been invested in the project. Much 
the same can be said for local development plans. 
To the extent a new development relies on a new 
public water system, local project proponents may 
find themselves at odds with state regulators who 
wish to avoid the creation of additional small water 
systems they perceive as unsustainable. In these 
cases, there is significant potential for frustration 
on all sides when plans are delayed or must be 
changed due to inadequate coordination, conflicting 
policies and/or competing priorities. 

These examples highlight what can be a wide 
gulf between drinking water regulators and LAFCos 
when implementing water system consolidations, 
whether for existing or new systems. Though 
intertwined in practice, the two often approach 
questions of water system fragmentation with 
distinct perspectives and priorities. Such differ-
ences can reverberate beyond individual projects, 
impacting broader efforts to rationalize drinking 
water services, increase equitable access, and 
ensure sustainability under a changing climate. 
Overwhelmingly LAFCos and state drinking water 
regulators share goals for promoting equitable, 

Page 21 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    4

efficient, and sustainable local drinking water 
service. Yet we are a long way from the policy 
alignment necessary to stop, let alone reverse, 
the proliferation of small water systems. 

Drawing on interviews with state regulators 
and LAFCo representatives, input from state 
technical assistance providers, and a survey 
of county LAFCo Executive Officers, this report 

aims to: 1) Highlight important intersections 
between LAFCos’ local planning and regulatory 
roles and state policies and programs that 
prioritize water system consolidation as a safe 
drinking water solution; 2) Identify challenges at 
these intersections that limit progress on shared 
goals; and 3) Provide recommendations to begin 
to address these challenges. 

              
Section I: Understanding LAFCos and Their Role in 
Water System Consolidation              
About LAFCos

Local Agency Formation Commissions (LAFCos) 
are county-specific independent governmental 
agencies charged with conducting studies 
to evaluate, reorganize, and streamline local 
government functions and services. LAFCos were 
first created by the State of California in 1963 to 
manage sprawl. Subsequent legislative updates 
have gradually increased the scope of LAFCo powers 
and authorities over time. The most important of 
these updates occurred in 2000 with the passage 
of the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act (CKH).3 Though 
amended periodically, the CKH Act remains the most 
important reference for understanding LAFCo 
powers and processes.

Each LAFCo is governed by a commission 
comprised of elected and appointed individuals. 
Every LAFCo includes representatives of the 
county’s Board of Supervisors and city councils 
from cities within the county boundaries along 
with one appointed member of the general public. 

Many LAFCos also include board members from 
special districts within the county. The exact 
structure of individual LAFCo commissions 
varies, but a typical commission has at least five, 
and up to seven, members who serve four-year 
terms. Though geographically coterminous with 
every county, LAFCos are politically independent 
from the county government where they 
operate. Commission decisions are not subject 
to oversight, review, or approval by the County 
Board of Supervisors. 

LAFCo commission meetings are public 
meetings, and as such must be regularly held, open 
to the public, and are subject to the Ralph M. Brown 
Act.4 The work of the commission is carried out 
by staff, led by an Executive Officer. Staffing levels 
vary substantially between counties. Some have 
full-time Executive Officers and up to eight additional 
full-time staff members, and others have only part-
time Executive Officers and minimal, or even no, 
additional staff (See Appendix). 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act of 2000
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act of 2000 was the most recent major overhaul of LAFCo powers. It establishes 
procedures for local government changes of organization, including city incorporations, annexations to a city 
or special district, and city and special district consolidations. In carrying out these functions, the Act 
specifically directs LAFCos to:

• Limit urban sprawl;
• Ensure orderly boundaries between governmental agencies;
• Preserve open space and agricultural lands.

Though LAFCos may have other priorities related to local political preferences, these three mandates are 
shared to some extent by all LAFCos in accordance with state law.

Page 22 of 106

https://alcl.assembly.ca.gov/system/files/2024-01/ckh-local-goverment-reorganization-act-of-2000-2023.pdf


LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    5

LAFCos are funded from two primary sources. 
First, all LAFCos receive annual funding from the 
local governments represented on the commission 
(county, cities, and sometimes special districts). 
The size of these contributions varies by county, as 
each LAFCo sets its own budget. Second, LAFCos 
may charge fees for some types of applications 
or services. These fees are typically borne by the 
relevant agencies or other applicants (such as 
landowners) applying for the action in question, for 
example, an adjustment to a district’s jurisdictional 
boundary. 

LAFCos and water system consolidations
To avoid the duplication of services and ensure 

that growth occurs in an orderly fashion, one of 
LAFCos’ primary roles is to regulate and approve 
changes to the jurisdictional boundaries and 
planning boundaries of all cities and most special 
districts (the most notable exception is school 
districts). As a result, LAFCo will be involved in any 
consolidation project if one or more of the systems 
— either consolidating or receiving — is a public 
agency, specifically a city or a special district.5 
If a consolidation project involves no such water 
systems, there is no formal role for LAFCo, although 
if the consolidation involves one or more Investor-
Owned Utilities, the California Public Utilities 
Commission (CPUC) will play a similar oversight role. 
If a project involves both public and private water 
systems, LAFCo may only be involved in certain 
components. For example, if an Investor-Owned 
Utility takes over water provision in a community 
previously served by a local agency (as in the case 
of the Sativa Water District in Los Angeles County), 
LAFCo would be involved in the dissolution of the 
public district but not in the “annexation” by the 
Investor-Owned Utility of the new service area 
which would instead be approved by the CPUC. 

It is important to keep in mind that while a 
LAFCo’s purview includes districts that provide 
drinking water, LAFCos do not primarily regulate 
drinking water providers or their day-to-day 
operations. Rather, their role is to ensure that 
drinking water provision happens in an orderly 
manner that does not create additional burdens 
on residents, does not conflict with established 

local policies or encourage unwanted urban 
sprawl, and does not create wasteful duplication 
of services. In other words, in many cases LAFCos 
will be concerned with the question: How will this 
consolidation fit into our broader planning priorities 
for the county? 

The answer to this question will largely depend 
on the structure of the proposed consolidation. 
Water system consolidation can be accomplished 
in many ways including not only district or city 
consolidation but also through extensions of 
service, annexations, etc. (See ‘Bridging differences 
in terminology’ box). Any one of these procedures 
may also trigger reorganizations or dissolutions, 
all of which may have distinct procedures and 
requirements for implementation. In some cases, 
LAFCos have a preferred pathway for how to 
accomplish consolidations that will need to be 
adhered to in order to receive the necessary 
approvals. However, in other cases, LAFCos may 
prefer to make recommendations or determinations 
based on the specifics of an individual project. 
We recently surveyed LAFCos across the state 
and received responses from 23 of the state’s 58 
LAFCos. Nearly 40% of respondents indicated they 
preferred outright annexation to extraterritorial 
service agreements whereas 52% reported having 
no pre-set preference. 

Even when a LAFCo has a preference, however, 
they may still approve exceptions based on specific 
circumstances. For example, under California law, 
LAFCos may (but are not required to) approve a 
request for a service extension outside of a service 
providers’ jurisdictional boundary and sphere of 
influence to respond to an “existing or impending 
threat to the health and safety of the public or the 
residents of the affected territory”.6 More than two 
thirds of survey respondents indicated they had 
approved such a request in their county. Notably the 
requirements for doing so vary between counties. 
Some counties require only a letter from an affected 
local government body, while others require expert 
documentation of the threat. 

Beyond the need to coordinate with LAFCo on 
the structure of a proposed consolidation, LAFCo 
involvement has another important implication: 
Fees. Given that LAFCos are authorized to collect 

Page 23 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    6

fees for services and studies and that some rely on 
these fees to cover the associated costs of those 
additional reviews, those seeking to consolidate 
drinking water services may have to bear the cost 
of any related study required by state law. LAFCos 
have some degree of autonomy in setting fees to 
compensate for staff time. As such, relevant fees 
vary significantly between counties. Of the 23 
LAFCos that responded to our survey, estimated 
total fees associated with a consolidation project 
ranged from $0 to $50,000, depending on the LAFCo 
and the complexity of the project. Seventy percent 
of survey respondents said that they waive fees 
under specific circumstances, the remainder 
indicated that fee waivers were not available.

Municipal Service Reviews
Beyond regulating local government boundaries, 

LAFCos also play an important role in evaluating 
municipal services within their county and making 
recommendations for improvements. The CKH 
Act mandates that every five years, as necessary, 
LAFCos review and update the designated sphere 
of influence for each city and special district 
under their jurisdiction.7 Prior to establishing 
or updating a sphere of influence, LAFCos must 

perform a special study called a Municipal Service 
Review (MSR). MSRs are comprehensive studies 
designed to better inform LAFCo, local agencies, 
and the community about the provision of municipal 
services. MSRs can be conducted individually for 
specific cities or districts, covering all services, 
or on a county-wide or regional basis focused on 
specific services. 

Based on these requirements, some LAFCos 
conduct regular MSRs while others do so only when 
necessary, such as when a sphere of influence 
issues arise. Budget and capacity constraints are a 
major factor influencing how frequently MSRs are 
conducted. Some LAFCos reported in interviews 
that they did not conduct MSRs as frequently as 
they would like due to high costs. 

The requirements related to MSR contents are 
also loosely bounded, meaning that in practice, 
the content and level of detail varies by county. 
Ideally an MSR will have insights into the kinds of 
things those pursuing consolidation would likely 
be interested in — water quality, water source 
reliability, fiscal stability, managerial capacity, and 
technical expertise. Take for example the recent 
Countywide Water Service and Sphere Review by 
Santa Cruz County which provides significant detail 

Bridging Differences In Terminology
This report uses the term “consolidation” in a broad sense to mean the formal merging of some or all 
functions of drinking water provision between two or more water providers or communities. Consolidation, 
in this drinking-water focused sense, can happen through a variety of different pathways that vary in not 
only their implementation but also outcomes (for more information see the 2022 guide Designing Water 
System Consolidations). Under this definition, consolidation can include the physical interconnection of 
existing water system infrastructure (physical consolidation) but it does not have to. Consolidation may 
instead entail merging only the governance and management functions of two pre-existing systems 
(managerial consolidation) or extending a water system to serve a domestic well community or new 
development. This inclusive definition is informed by, and aligned with, the definition state drinking water 
regulators and community water advocates employ. 
However, for a LAFCo, the term consolidation refers to a narrowly defined legal process, closely constrained 
by state law. The CKH Act defines consolidation as “the uniting or joining of two or more cities located in the 
same county into a single new successor city or two or more districts into a single new successor district.” 
Consolidation in a LAFCo sense always entails the creation of an entirely new district. 
While largely semantic, this difference can cause confusion. Projects such as the extension of a community 
water system to serve residents previously reliant on a state small water system or where a special district 
like a County Service Area is absorbed into a neighboring city would both be commonly referred to as 
consolidations among drinking water stakeholders. To a LAFCo representative, however, many such 
“consolidations” are instead understood as extensions of service, annexations, reorganizations, and/or 
dissolutions. 

Page 24 of 106

https://santacruzlafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Countywide-Water-MSR-Adopted-Version.pdf
https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Designing-Water-System-Consolidation-Projects.pdf
https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Designing-Water-System-Consolidation-Projects.pdf


LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    7

on system finances, water rates, transparency and 
local accountability among other items.8 In other 
cases, MSRs may have few of these details and 
thus provide little in the way of local insights either 
supporting or challenging consolidation efforts 
(capacity can also be a factor here). By statute, 
LAFCos are authorized to request information from 
privately owned water systems as part of their 
reviews including from mutual water companies.9 
Notably, very few LAFCos currently do so and some 
LAFCos report mutual water companies have failed 
to respond to requests for information when they 
have attempted to include them in MSRs.

Approval of new public water systems
Recognizing the importance of stopping the 

further proliferation of potentially unsustainable 
small water systems throughout the state, 
recent regulatory changes now require that 
all applications for new public water systems10 
must be approved by the SWRCB. Applicants 
wishing to construct a new system must apply at 
least six months before initiating water-related 
development with an accompanying “preliminary 
technical report.” The preliminary technical report 
must analyze the feasibility of connecting to any 
public water systems within three miles, assess 
the twenty-year costs of operating the proposed 
system, and evaluate the sustainability and 

resilience of the proposed system long-term. As 
part of the assessment of consolidation feasibility, 
an applicant needs to document contact with LAFCo 
regarding the identified existing water systems. 
Approval of non-water system related development 
(e.g., a warehouse facility to be served by the 
proposed water system), however, remains a local 
decision and LAFCos retain final authority on areas 
where services can be provided by the existing 
water systems of cities and special districts. Thus, 
there is potential for inconsistent determinations 
between state and local authorities, which could 
cause delays and/or lead to potential litigation. 
These changes increase the need for coordination 
between state drinking water regulators and local 
authorities regarding when and where the creation 
of new water systems is appropriate.

              
Section II: Challenges              

Based on our interviews and survey results, in 
this section we describe seven key challenges that 
limit effective coordination between state and local 
regulators with respect to water system consolida-
tion, both among existing and new systems. 

Lack of communication and information 
sharing between LAFCos and drinking water 
regulators

Although LAFCos, the State Water Resources 
Control Board (SWRCB), and the California Public 
Utilities Commission (CPUC) all play key roles relevant 
to drinking water system consolidations, each has 
a unique niche in the enforcement patchwork, and 

communication between these agencies is limited.
While, in many cases, LAFCos rely on publicly 

available SWRCB data in developing their MSRs for 
water services, the MSR process also often gener-
ates new information about the status of local water 
providers, especially regarding the state of system 
governance and finances. This information can be 
highly relevant to understanding the potential of 
a system to encounter future challenges. Yet only 
30% of surveyed LAFCos report sharing their MSR 
findings with drinking water regulators. And while 
some SWRCB staff do independently seek out and 
use MSRs when working with a system, not all MSRs 
are publicly available online.

38% of LAFCos report that 
they evaluate the feasibility 
of consolidation as part of 
their MSR process and 61% 
report that they recommend 
consolidation in MSR findings 
where warranted.

Page 25 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    8

This lack of information sharing mirrors a 
general lack of communication between local plan-
ners and state drinking water regulators. Nearly all 
LAFCo Executive Officers we interviewed reported 
only infrequent contact with state drinking water 
regulators. The lack of communication creates 
issues in both directions. On the one hand, the 
SWRCB may have information about the challenges 
of local agencies unavailable to LAFCos who often 
only have infrequent communications with the small 
water providers under their jurisdiction. Similarly, 
a LAFCo might be aware of issues which could merit 
consolidation in the future. These systems might 
be good candidates for SWRCB intervention, but 
intervention is unlikely if information does not flow 
between agencies. On the other hand, the SWRCB 
may pursue solutions such as consolidation without 
a clear understanding of locally specific challenges 
such as conflicting policies, or potential political 
barriers. 

California’s other key water agency, the CPUC, 
regulates Investor-Owned Utilities. The CPUC 
communicates even less frequently with LAFCos 
than the SWRCB. This is not surprising, given that 
LAFCos do not regulate private utilities. But in 
some cases, LAFCos might be ignorant of poten-
tial privately-owned consolidation partners for 
troubled local government systems or vice-versa, 
of struggling private systems where governmental 
systems could expand their service area. Addition-
ally, consolidations involving Investor-Owned Utili-
ties (referred to by the CPUC as acquisitions) can 
significantly impact local development. Currently 
there are no specific mechanisms for LAFCos to 
provide feedback to the CPUC on these matters 
except to file a motion for party status in an acquisi-
tion proceeding which is subject to approval and 
conditions by a judge.

Lack of shared language and vision
Sometimes, when drinking water stake-

holders interested in water system consolidations 
encounter LAFCos, they find the experience to 
be frustrating. Often, part of the problem is that 
LAFCos do not share a common vision or even use 
the same language to talk about consolidations. 
As previously mentioned, for LAFCo staff the term 

“consolidation” refers to a specific legal process, 
not a broad suite of options. Conversations that 
casually use the term consolidation can thus create 
confusion, since many water system consolidation 
projects fall under LAFCo descriptions for annexa-
tions, dissolutions, extraterritorial service agree-
ments, or other arrangements. 

But this challenge is not only semantic. While all 
parties share a commitment to ensuring efficient, 
equitable local services, the goals that motivate 
system consolidation and the metrics by which 
“success” is assessed in these projects can also 
vary. State regulators tend to prioritize projects on 
the basis of Safe Drinking Water Act compliance, 
cost, and improving system sustainability (i.e., 
targeting “at-risk” systems). Overall LAFCos take 
a broader perspective, including considering 
impacts to different community services as well as 
county-wide impacts and consistency in long-term 
planning. This is well demonstrated by the fact that 
surveyed LAFCos reported considering, on average, 
more than five different factors when reviewing 
consolidation-related applications (Figure 1). Among 
these considerations, 30% of LAFCos reported that 
ensuring adequate Technical, Managerial, and 
Financial (TMF) capacity was the most important, 
followed by ensuring logical service boundaries and 
increasing access to safe and affordable drinking 
water, each of which was voted most important 
26% of respondents. Notably, whereas preventing 
and reversing water system fragmentation is a top 
priority of the SWRCB, this consideration did not 
rise to the top among LAFCOs, only 70% of which 
said they consider system fragmentation when 
reviewing consolidation-related applications.

Diversity in local implementation
All LAFCos are governed by the CKH Act, but 

policy occurs just as much in implementation as 
in statute. Because the CKH leaves substantial 
autonomy for local LAFCos to tailor their opera-
tions to local conditions, implementation varies 
substantially from LAFCo to LAFCo. The state’s 
rules have few hard guidelines except when it 
comes to specific procedural actions. 

For example, according to statute, LAFCos 
are supposed to interpret any requests to 

Page 26 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    9

accommodate a system consolidation based on the 
potential costs and savings, as well as other impacts 
to local residents. This open-ended set of criteria 
leaves room for interpretation leading LAFCos to 
review a wide range of factors as mentioned above. 
This statute language also allows for LAFCos to 
have different local policies leading some LAFCos to 
prioritize specific planning goals, like the prevention 
of urban sprawl or addressing service needs in 
unincorporated areas.

LAFCos vary substantially in their preferences 
regarding consolidation pathways. Technical 
assistance providers may select a consolidation 
pathway which they think will best suit the needs 
of the community they work with. LAFCos will 
tend to take a more holistic view and measure the 
proposed benefits of any consolidation project 
against the potential impact on development and 
services county-wide. For example, if a consolida-
tion of private wells into a nearby municipal system 
would extend that city’s sphere of influence into 

an area slated for non-development purposes, the 
LAFCo may oppose the project for fear of losing 
open space. In many cases there are workable 
compromises that can be found if these goals and 
constraints are clearly communicated, for example 
pursuing an Extraterritorial Service Agreement 
(also called Out-of-Agency, Out-of-Boundary or 
Outside Service Agreements depending on the 
county).11

Unclear roles and responsibilities
While the SWRCB is committed to stopping and 

reversing the proliferation of small water systems 
as part of advancing the Human Right to Water (AB 
685), precisely because of the planning and local 
government implications, there are practical and 
political limits to their ability to do this work on their 
own. Yet there is ambiguity, and even disagree-
ment, regarding what the role and responsibilities 
of local planners such as LAFCos is, or should be, 
with respect to advancing the same mission. 

Figure 1. LAFCo considerations in reviewing consolidation related applications by frequency.

Ensuring logical service boundaries

Addressing service needs in 
disadvantaged unincorporated areas

Ensuring adequate TMF capacity

Increasing access to safe 
and affordable drinking water

Reducing fragmentation 
among water service providers

Ensuring adequate representation

Preventing sprawl

Other

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

87

83

83

78

70

61

48

30

Percent of survey respondents that reported considering this factor in reviewing 
consolidation-related applications

Page 27 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    10

Generally, LAFCos rely on the SWRCB to flag 
struggling systems and initiate consolidation 
processes rather than do so themselves (although 
in certain counties, LAFCos do sometimes play 
a more central role in promoting projects). 
However, LAFCos do not necessarily view this as 
a positive from a local policy standpoint. Several 
LAFCos indicated that state-level policymakers 
and agencies generally lacked an understanding 
of the intricacies of local implementation of 
consolidations. Some also regarded state-initiated 
projects without adequate state financial support 
as unfunded burdens for the affected communities 
and for LAFCos themselves. 

But locally initiating projects has its own 
challenges. California state law is clear that, in 
some circumstances, LAFCos have the power 
to initiate water system consolidations through 
district dissolution, even without the consent of 
targeted district.12 These types of consolidations 
are rare, however, for several reasons. Perhaps 
unsurprisingly, LAFCo commissioners are often 
reluctant to go against locally elected political 
leaders — some of whom may even sit on the LAFCo 
commission themselves. Second, such actions 
are subject to public hearings and can be blocked 
by formal protests from residents, an outcome 
which is more likely because the threshold for 
popular motions to block the action is lower in 
LAFCo-initiated proceedings. Third, LAFCos are 
generally reluctant to force other systems to take 

on new customers, even if the receiving system is 
best suited to serve those communities. LAFCos 
generally operate under tight budgets and with 
limited staff, and thus generally require a project 
proponent to fund any necessary studies to 
proceed with a dissolution rather than take on the 
cost from their own budget. Additionally, LAFCos 
are prohibited from initiating certain consolidation 
pathways, such as annexations. Thus, even if a 
LAFCo knows consolidation is the best choice, they 
rarely act as proponents. An exception to this trend 
is when a local scandal erupts, either around system 
governance or water quality. 

This does not mean, however, that LAFCos 
do not view themselves as having any role in 
consolidations. For some LAFCos, considering 
consolidation options is already a part of their 
standard operations. Thirty-two percent of 
surveyed LAFCos reported assessing the feasibility 
of consolidations as part of MSRs for drinking 
water service providers. Sixty percent reported 
recommending system consolidation as part of 

Nearly 40% of LAFCos report 
facilitating or supporting local 
consolidation projects whereas 
less than 9% report initiating 
consolidation projects.

Consolidating Sativa County Water District Post-Scandal
When some Compton residents began to notice discolored water in their taps in the spring of 2018, popular 
protests erupted. One entity was not surprised. Los Angeles (LA) LAFCo had flagged the water provider, the 
Sativa County Water District, as struggling in multiple categories as early as 2005, and staff had 
recommended outright dissolution of the agency to the commission in 2012. However, despite these red flags, 
the agency continued to operate, and no consolidation efforts were formally initiated, either locally or by the 
SWRCB. When the protests began, however, LA LAFCo was prepared to spring into action. With the changed 
political winds following the fallout from the scandal, the commission was able to initiate a dissolution 
process for Sativa just two months after complaints first arose and soon thereafter work with the state to 
allow the county to temporarily takeover operations while all parties looked for a new permanent provider.
The case of Sativa highlights just how effective a well-resourced LAFCo can be in dealing with a local crisis. 
But the case also provides an example of how a lack of coordination around system dissolution priorities and 
political inertia can led to a crisis in the first place. A more aggressive approach locally, or better 
coordination from the SWRCB, might have dealt with the issues at Sativa before brown water flowed out of 
residents’ taps. Nonetheless, LA LAFCo’s quick response and effective collaboration between local and state 
regulators headed off the problem before things got worse.

Page 28 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    11

MSRs based on assessments of water supply, 
governance, proximity to other systems, or other 
factors. In these cases, our interviews reveal that 
most LAFCos view the initiative to then fall on the 
individual system boards to explore possible options 
for consolidations or alternatively, for the SWRCB 
to intervene if a system is underperforming to such 
a degree to require consolidation.

As a result, most consolidation projects in 
California are initiated by, or in partnership with, the 
SWRCB. Due to the SWRCB’s responsibilities under 
the Safe Drinking Water Act, these consolidations 
tend to target existing or imminent health and safety 
concerns. A more proactive approach to other 
types of potentially challenged systems — such 
as small systems with governance issues, those 
unable to raise capital or with retiring staff or those 
particularly vulnerable to climate disasters — has 
so far not been on the agenda for lack of a clear 
responsible party or champion.

Gaps in relevant authorities
In addition to ambiguity about the role of 

LAFCos in reversing water system fragmentation, 
the fact that not all water systems are subject to the 
jurisdiction of LAFCos limits even the potential for 
LAFCos to support consolidation projects. Water 
systems are regulated by a patchwork of state and 
local agencies, depending on the structure of the 
system and other key factors. Because of this, some 
of the systems most suitable for consolidation fall 
between the cracks.

LAFCos only regulate and review cities and 
special districts, not private firms. Yet many 
struggling water systems are private systems, 
like mobile home parks or mutual water companies, 
which unlike Investor-Owned Utilities, are not 
regulated by the CPUC. State policymakers have 
noticed this oversight and granted LAFCos the 
ability to include information for private water 
systems operating in their county in MSRs. 
However, doing so is optional, and often inhibited 
by resource and information constraints. Because 
most LAFCos have their hands full performing MSRs 
for the public agencies under their jurisdiction, 
very few have included mutual water companies, 
mobile home parks, or other small systems in their 
MSR cycles, and most do not anticipate doing so in 

the future. While LAFCos might seem to be natural 
agencies to promote consolidation for these types 
of systems, they ultimately do not have either the 
statutory mandate, funding, or powers to do so. 

Competing local priorities
LAFCos are political organizations primarily 

composed of elected officials. As such, local politics 
matter a lot. If a local agency’s board does not 
favor consolidation, even for a consolidation that is 
logical and feasible, LAFCo commissioners may be 
reluctant to force the issue to avoid controversy or 
protect local relationships. The same can be true 
for supporting new development. To the extent that 
a new water system is tied to a politically favored 
development project or powerful local interests, 
LAFCos may be subject to significant political 
pressure to support the preliminary technical 
report required by the SWRCB. 

County specific priorities and policies can also 
impede consolidation efforts. One such example 
is the issue of limiting urban sprawl. If a consoli-
dation project is seen to have the potential for 
increasing development in an area the county has 
earmarked for light or no development, a LAFCo 
might be unlikely to approve the consolidation. 
Notably, such concerns are county specific. Only 
48% of survey respondents listed preventing sprawl 
as a factor for approving consolidation-related 

Resident Support Is Often Non-Negotiable
Most LAFCo actions, such as district dissolutions 
and annexations, are subject to protest by 
registered voters and landowners in the affected 
territory. Generally, if more than 25% of the 
voters or landowners representing 25% of the 
assessed value of land in the area submit written 
protests, the change must then be approved by 
voters in an election which is a costly and 
time-consuming undertaking. In some instances, 
namely if LAFCo initiates the boundary change 
itself, this threshold is lowered to 10%. Moreover, 
some LAFCo actions that can be needed for a 
consolidation project, like the creation of new 
special district, always require a local election. 
This means that regardless of whether a 
consolidation project is initiated by the state or a 
local proponent, resident support is usually 
critical to successful implementation.

Page 29 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    12

applications. However, it is increasingly common 
for municipalities or special districts to implement 
their own moratoriums on new connections. Such 
moratoriums serve to arrest new development, but 
they can also prevent the consolidation of water 
services for existing peripheral residents. 

Importantly, local priorities and interests can 
also have positive effects on efforts to increase 
water system consolidation. When locals identify 
system fragmentation as a major concern, LAFCo 
staff can work effectively to foster consolidation 
in unique ways. Tulare County, for example, has 
completed more than 16 consolidations since 2015, 
in part due to the active involvement and support 
from the Board of Supervisors. 

Limited and uneven LAFCo resources
LAFCos have uneven funding levels across the 

state. Because represented agencies are a primary 
source of funds, counties with small numbers of cities, 

special districts, or both, typically have small LAFCo 
budgets. In some of these counties, LAFCo work may 
be handled on a contract basis by the county planning 
department or be contracted out to a private firm. By 
contrast, counties with large amounts of regulated 
agencies, like San Diego or Los Angeles, often have 
relatively large LAFCo budgets. 

In many cases, funding levels can directly 
correspond to staffing levels. LAFCos in counties 
with low staffing levels may be harder to contact and 
necessary procedures may take longer, especially 
if there is no full-time staff. MSRs in such counties 
may also be updated less frequently than would 
be preferred if local capacity was higher. Limited 
resources can also lead to over-reliance on fees 
associated with studies and applications, which can 
in turn increase costs and impede a county’s ability 
to offer fee waivers. As previously mentioned, only 
about two-thirds of the 23 LAFCos who responded to 
our survey offered fee waivers for studies. 

              
Section III: Recommendations              

Based on the challenges outlined in the previous 
section, the following recommendations highlight 
potential pathways for addressing the existing gaps 
and improving alignment between local and state 
regulators organized around three key themes: 
Improving information sharing and communication 
between regulators; Identifying consolidation 
opportunities; and Advancing locally-driven 
consolidation projects. 

Improving information sharing and 
communication between regulators
• Ensure regular, sustained communication 

between LAFCos and state drinking water regu-
lators: Locally, LAFCo, the SWRCB, and the CPUC 
(as applicable) should routinely meet to discuss 
failing and at-risk systems within each county. 
Such meetings would present the opportunity 
for each party to share the information on 
specific systems as well as identify promising 
partnerships across a range of system types 
that are consistent with local plans and policies. 
When distinct from LAFCo staff, county planners 

should also be included. At the state-level, bian-
nual LAFCo conferences and SWRCB’s internal 
staff training programs present opportunities 
for cross-learning on relevant topics with the 
potential to increase collaboration. Regular 
communication would go a long way to increasing 
mutual understanding of relevant priorities and 
limitations as well as overcoming terminology 
and other barriers.

• Transmit and connect information from MSRs 
and the annual state drinking water needs 
assessment: Currently, both MSRs and the annual 
SWRCB drinking water needs assessments 
contain information helpful for assessing the 
functioning and sustainability of community 
water systems operated by cities and special 
districts. Systematically sharing these findings 
would help connect relevant knowledge from the 
local and state agencies and align with the Open 
and Transparent Water Data Act. At a minimum, 
MSRs should be readily accessible online and 
county-level meetings can support their use by 
the SWRCB. Most LAFCos that responded to the 

Page 30 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    13

survey support this type of information sharing 
(See Figure 2). In the future, the SWRCB could 
create formal pathways for integrating MSR 
data and/or the state legislature could consider 
changes to require information sharing and 
coordination. 

• Clarify and message relevant state goals: Many 
LAFCos are eager to support state efforts for 
advancing safe, accessible, and affordable 
drinking water and climate resilience but do not 
have a clear understanding of state priorities on 
these topics nor the type of performance metrics 
they could use to assess and advance these goals  
locally. The state should develop clear resources 
that can guide LAFCos in the development of 
MSRs and inform local decision-making about 
service boundaries. 

• Ensure early coordination on system consolidation 
projects: For project proponents, ensuring 
early coordination between communities, the 
SWRCB, technical assistance providers and 
LAFCo staff is essential. Consolidation can be 
accomplished through many potential pathways 
that must be matched with local conditions. It is 
therefore important to learn what pathways are 
preferred or even possible locally and why. If a 
LAFCo has formal or informal policies related 
to consolidation, they should be shared as 
soon as possible. Having this information as a 
project is developed will help ensure alignment 
with local planning and promote success. Early 
communication can also help avoid unnecessary 
delays in planning or implementation by 
anticipating fees, processing times, etc. 

• Ensure early coordination on proposals that 
implicate new public water systems: State 
regulators, LAFCos, and counties should 
communicate as early as possible about 
development proposals that explicitly or implicitly 
could lead to the creation of a new public 
water system. Early coordination on priorities 
and limitations at both levels will help prevent 
inconsistencies that could lead to conflict and 
delay.

Identifying consolidation opportunities
• Ensure robust and regular MSRs for drinking 

water service providers: Municipal Service 
Reviews (MSRs) are a valuable opportunity to 
both assess the functioning of local service 
providers and make recommendations for 
improvements. Ensuring that thorough MSRs are 
conducted regularly throughout the state could 
go a long way towards identifying and advancing 
consolidations. Importantly, identifying funding 
sources to support this work is likely key to 
achieving this goal. 

• Standardize assessment of consolidation 
feasibility as a part of the MSR process and 
recommend consolidation, as appropriate, 
in the findings: California state law requires 
that LAFCos explore “opportunities for shared 
facilities” for public water systems as a part of 
their MSR process. Some LAFCos go beyond 
this requirement to assess consolidation 
opportunities for some or all systems under 
their jurisdiction. All LAFCos should do so with 
an eye not only for physical consolidations 
but also managerial consolidations and water 
system partnerships (e.g., shared staff). Where 
appropriate based on these findings, LAFCos 
should make formal recommendations for 
consolidation as part of their MSR findings. 
While not all counties responded to our survey, 
the results demonstrate unanimously support 
for both actions among those who did. 

• Fill data and oversight gaps for under-regulated 
water systems: LAFCos collect and maintain 
important information about the water systems 
operated by municipalities and special districts 
in their jurisdictions. The CPUC maintains similar 
information for the state’s Investor-Owned 
Utilities. For other private water systems like 
mutual water companies and mobile home parks 
data collection is limited to the drinking water 
needs assessment which necessarily provides 
very limited insights on system governance and 
management. Figuring out how to fill this gap 
should be a state priority. For example, these 
systems could be subject to reporting and 
oversight by the CPUC or included in MSRs. 

• Proactively identify priority consolidations and 
tie these into other opportunities for boundary 
expansion: Some systems are reluctant to receive 

Page 31 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    14

customers from struggling systems but are 
happy to expand with greenfield development. 
Working with both state drinking water regu-
lators and local water managers (e.g. Ground-
water Sustainability Agencies), LAFCos should 
develop and maintain a list of priority consoli-
dation projects in their county. LAFCos should 
then use their existing authorities to tie these 
projects to locally promoted boundary changes, 
for example, annexations or sphere of influence 
updates, when feasible. More than 80% of LAFCos 
that responded to the survey support this type 
of approach. 

• Clarify roles for identifying and promoting potential 
consolidations: Currently the SWRCB is the 
primary entity identifying potential consolidation 
projects and initiating conversations with 
a particular focus on “failing systems” with 
pressing health and safety concerns and those 
at-risk of failing. There is a need to clarify who 
else, if anyone, should take responsibility for 
identifying and initiating potential consolidations 
among different subsets of systems such as 

privately-owned non-Investor-Owned Utilities 
and low-hanging fruit consolidations (e.g., based 
on proximity or where system managers wish 
to retire).

Advancing locally-driven consolidation 
projects
• Reduce financial impediments to locally-driven 

consolidations: Proposed consolidations entail 
LAFCo related costs to be borne by a project 
proponent and/or the LAFCo itself. As such, 
promising projects can languish if they are not 
financially supported by the SWRCB and/or 
a local government proponent. Establishing a 
funding source to support LAFCos or other local 
proponents to advance consolidation projects 
could help increase the number of locally initiated 
projects. Similarly, state and federal funding and 
technical assistance is often essential to make 
consolidation feasible. Creating clear pathways 
for accessing these resources for locally-initiated 
projects could similarly increase local leadership 
on the issue. 

Figure 2. Existing practices and policy preferences among surveyed LAFCos for addressing 
local water challenges.

Recommend consolidation as needed 
as part of municipal service reviews

Facilitate/support the implementation 
of local consolidation projects

Evaluate the feasibility of water system 
consolidation within the county

Communicate findings from municipal 
service reviews to drinking water regulators

Precondition/incentivize system 
consolidations where opportunities arise

Initiate system consolidations 
where opportunities arise

0% 20% 40% 6% 80% 100%

Currently doing Not currently doing but would support

Page 32 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    15

• Reduce administrative and procedural hurdles 
to implementing consolidations: Consolidation is 
a complicated and difficult process constrained 
by convoluted statutes with significant limitations 
and even contradictions. Often a single consoli-
dation project may trigger several concurrent 
actions which only further increases the admin-
istrative burden and associated costs. To every 
extent possible, the associated statutory require-
ments should be clarified and streamlined. 

• Create local pathways for consolidation of mutual 
water companies, mobile home park systems, 
and other small private systems: LAFCos do not 
have authority over private water systems and 
therefore cannot initiate consolidation among 
them. Thus, the state must explore possibilities 
to promote the consolidation of small private 
systems that are not Investor-Owned Utilities.

• Allow LAFCos to initiate annexations: Currently 
LAFCos can initiate dissolutions but not annexa-
tions. Given that annexation is a common and 
often preferred mechanism for consolidating 
water systems, granting LAFCos the ability to 
initiate annexations could increase the number 
of projects advanced locally. 

• Ensure technical assistance providers working 
on consolidations have a clear understanding of 
work plan elements and project requirements 
related to LAFCo: The SWRCB should provide 
technical assistance providers clear guidance 
for addressing the local planning dimensions of 
consolidations including working with LAFCo. 
Ensuring that LAFCo tasks and expenses are 
accounted for in work plans and budgets will 
streamline implementation.

Page 33 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    16

Resources and Further Reading
Assembly Committee on Local Government. (2023). Guide to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local 
Government Reorganization Act of 2000. https://alcl.assembly.ca.gov/system/files/2024-01/
ckh-local-goverment-reorganization-act-of-2000-2023.pdf 

Bui, T. & Ihrke, B. (2003). It’s time to draw the line: A citizen’s guide to LAFCos. 
https://humboldtLAFCo.org/wp-content/uploads/TimetoDrawLine_LAFCos.pdf 

Dobbin, K., McBride, J. & Pierce, G. (2022). Designing Water Systems Consolidation Projects. 
https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Designing-Water-System-
Consolidation-Projects.pdf 

Senate Governance and Finance Committee. (2013). 50 Years of LAFCos: A guide to LAFCos. 
https://caLAFCo.org/sites/default/files/resources/50%20Years%20of%20LAFCos%20
%282013%29%20-%20A%20guide%20to%20LAFCos_0.pdf 

State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). (2021). Permits for Water Systems. 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/Permits.html

State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). (2023). Drinking water system partnerships and 
consolidations. https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/
waterpartnership.html 

US Water Alliance. (2022). Catalyzing Community-Driven Utility Consolidations and Partnerships. 
https://uswateralliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Catalyzing-Community-Driven-Utility-
Consolidations-and-Partnerships-PAGES_0.pdf

Page 34 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    17

County # of Staff Offers Fee Wavers? Approx. Range for 
Consolidation-Related Fees

Alameda 2 N $6,500 - $13,000

Alpine 1 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Amador 4 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Butte 4 Y $1,000 – $25,000

Calaveras 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Colusa 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Contra Costa 2 Y $4,000 - $8,500

Del Norte 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

El Dorado 2 Y $1,000 – $50,000

Fresno 5 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Glenn 1 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Humboldt 3 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Imperial 4 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Inyo 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Kern 3 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Kings 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Lake 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Lassen 3 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Los Angeles 7 Y $6,000 - $30,000

Madera 2 N $3,000 - $6,000

Marin 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Mariposa 1 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Mendocino 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Merced 2 N $2,000 - $5,000

Modoc 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Mono 1 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Monterey 4 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Napa 2 Y $8,500 - $34,000

Appendix
LAFCo information and select survey results by county

Page 35 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    18

County # of Staff Offers Fee Wavers? Approx. Range for 
Consolidation-Related Fees

Nevada 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Orange 5 N $10,000 - $30,000

Placer 2 Y $20,000 - $40,000

Plumas 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Riverside 5 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Sacramento 2 Y $3,000 - $10,000

San Benito 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

San Bernardino 4 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

San Diego 10 Y $6,500 - $25,000

San Francisco 1 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

San Joaquin 3 N $2,000 - $2,500

San Luis Obispo 3 Y $3,000 - $7,500

San Mateo 3 Y $2,000 - $10,000

Santa Barbara 2 Y $2,000 - $6,000

Santa Clara 2 Y $4,000 - $8,500

Santa Cruz 2 Y $1,000 - $2,000

Shasta 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Sierra 1 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Siskiyou 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Solano 3 N $7,500 - $35,000

Sonoma 3 Y $4,000 - $6,000

Stanislaus 3 Y $500 - $3,500

Sutter 3 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Tehama 1 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Trinity 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Tulare 3 Y $3,500 - $4,000

Tuolumne 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Ventura 3 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Yolo 2 Y $1,500 - $6,500

Yuba 2 Did not respond to survey Did not respond to survey

Page 36 of 106



LAFCo and Water System Consolidation    19

1 Dobbin, K. B., McBride, J., & Pierce, G. (2023). Panacea or placebo? The diverse pathways and implications of drinking water system 
consolidation. Water Resources Research, 59(12), https://doi.org/10.1029/2023WR035179.

2 CALAFCo website, What Are LAFCos responsibilities? Accessed 11/6/23. https://caLAFCo.org/LAFCo-law/faq/what-are-LAFCos-
responsibilities

3 CA Government Code §56000 et seq.
4 CA Government Code §54950 et seq.
5 A consolidating water system is a system that will stop providing drinking water service after a consolidation is completed. In contrast, 

a receiving water system is a system that continues to provide drinking water service including to new customers/territory added 
through the consolidation.

6 CA Government Code §56133(c)
7 CA Government Code §56425(g); A sphere of influence or SOI is a planning boundary outside of an agency’s jurisdictional boundary 

(such as the city limit line or water service area) that designates the agency’s probable future boundary and service area.
8 Countywide Water Service and Sphere Review. Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa Cruz County. Accessed 01/22/24. 

https://santacruzlafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Countywide-Water-MSR-Adopted-Version.pdf
9 CA Government Code §56430(7)(d)
10 A public water system is a water system serving at least 15 connections or 25 people for a minimum of 60 days per year. This is the 

body of water systems that is regulated by the SWRCB under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act.
11 Extraterritorial, Out-of-Agency, Out-of-Boundary or Outside service agreements all refer to situations where a city or special district 

extend services outside of their jurisdictional boundaries. For drinking water service this means outside of their approved service 
area. Prior to 1994 service extensions only required LAFCo approval if they involved annexation. Since 1994 service extensions always 
require approval by LAFCo (with some exceptions such as the transfer of non-treated water). 

12 CA Government Code §56035; For a LAFCo, a dissolution entails the “disincorporation, extinguishment, or termination of the existence 
of a district and the cessation of all its corporate powers.”

References and Notes

Page 37 of 106



January 27, 2025 

Letter of Joint Legislative Interest 
Advancing Report Recommendations  
LAFCO and Water System Consolidations in California, 2024 

In January 2024, with funding from the University of California Agriculture and Natural 
Resources, a report entitled “LAFCo and Water System Consolidation” published by Kristin 
Dobbin (UC Berkeley/UC ANR) and Justin McBride (UCLA) addressing the relationship 
between State regulators and Local Agency Formation Commissions (LAFCOs) in achieving 
the State’s interest in consolidating and otherwise remedying problems with small public 
water systems.  The report draws on surveys and related analysis showing priority deviations 
and communication barriers that underlie the ongoing challenges in advancing the State’s 
interest in making public water systems more resilient through consolidations with specific 
focus on disadvantaged and otherwise underserved communities. A copy of the report is 
available online at bit.ly/LAFCO_systemconsolidation.  

The signatories to this letter represent several LAFCOs as well as non-profit organizations 
located throughout California. We jointly believe the time is now to put the report’s 
recommendations into action. Most notably, now is the time to propose common sense 
legislative solutions to advance LAFCOs ability to help ensure the timely and sustainable 
extension of municipal water and wastewater services – as well as other interrelated core 
urban services – to all Californians with the following legislative proposals: 

● Expand LAFCOs ability to initiate organizations and reorganizations under certain
circumstances
Amend California Government Code 56375(a) and its enumeration of LAFCO
initiating powers to support timely water or wastewater services consistent with
community needs.

7C: ATTACHMENT 2

Page 38 of 106

https://bit.ly/LAFCO_systemconsolidation


● Amplify MSRs Role in Communicating Community Needs  
Amend California Government Code 56430 and its provisions on preparing municipal 
service reviews to require LAFCOs to take up these studies at noticed hearings as 
well as require the affected agencies to formally receive the studies at their own 
noticed hearing an provide confirmation in doing so back to LAFCOs.    

 

● Address Service Barriers for Mutual Water Companies and Mobile Home Parks 
Amend California Government Code 56036 and its definition of “special district” for 
LAFCO purposes to include mutual water companies. Similarly, amend California 
Corporations Code Section 14300 to address documented gaps in oversight.   

 
The signatories welcome your interest and support in this important effort and anyone of us 
are available to meet with you at your earliest convenience.  
 
With appreciation,  
 
Carolyn Emery, Executive Officer – Orange County LAFCO 
Brendon Freeman, Executive Officer – Napa LAFCO  
José Henríquez, Executive Officer – Sacramento LAFCO 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer – Alameda LAFCO 
Steve Lucas, Executive Officer – Butte County LAFCO 
Joe Serrano, Executive Officer – Santa Cruz County LAFCO 
Keene Simonds, Executive Officer – San Diego County LAFCO 
Janaki Anagha, Staff Attorney – Community Water Center 
Nataly Escobedo Garcia – Leadership Counsel for Justice and Accountability  
 
  

Page 39 of 106



 

Comprehensive Quarterly Report  
Page 1 of 1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Date:   February 5, 2025  
To:       LAFCO Commissioners 
From:   Francisco Estrada, LAFCO Analyst 
Subject:   Comprehensive Quarterly Report – Second Quarter (FY 2024-25) 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
This report provides an overview of projects currently underway, the status of the 
Commission’s Multi-Year Work Program, the financial performance of the annual budget, 
and staff’s outreach efforts from October through December. This agenda item is for 
informational purposes only and does not require any action. Therefore, it is 
recommended that the Commission receive and file the Executive Officer’s report. 
______________________________________________________________________ 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act delegates LAFCOs with regulatory and planning duties 
to coordinate the logical formation and development of local governmental agencies. 
Attachment 1 summarizes how several of these statutory mandates are being met 
through the consideration of boundary changes, the development of scheduled service 
reviews, and staff’s ongoing collaboration with local agencies.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Francisco Estrada 
LAFCO Analyst 
 
Attachment:  
 
1. FY 2024-25 Comprehensive Quarterly Report (Second Quarter) 

Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation Commission 

Agenda 

Item  

No. 7d 

Page 40 of 106



LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY

Comprehensive 
Quarterly Report 

FISCAL YEAR 2024-25 
SECOND QUARTER 

(OCTOBER TO DECEMBER)

7D: ATTACHMENT 1

Page 41 of 106



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

ACTIVE PROPOSALS 

As of December 31, 2024, Santa Cruz LAFCO has two active applications.  

1. “Lockewood Lane/Graham Hill Road Parcel Annexation” (Project No. DA 24-12): 
This application was initiated by landowner petition on July 3, 2024, and proposes to 
annex a single parcel (APN: 061-441-01) into the San Lorenzo Valley Water District. 
The purpose of the annexation is for the provision of water services to a single-family 
unit development from a nearby public agency.  
 
Latest Status: Pending - may be considered by the Commission in early 2025.  
 

2. “1610 Bulb Avenue Parcel Annexation” (Project No. CA 24-13): This application 
was initiated by landowner petition on August 15, 2024, and proposes to annex a 
single parcel (APN: 031-121-39) into the City of Capitola. The purpose of the 
annexation is to receive municipal services and land use oversight from the City. 
 
Latest Status: Pending – the item is scheduled to be considered by the Capitola City 
Council in February-March 2025.  
 

MULTI-YEAR WORK PROGRAM (SERVICE REVIEWS) 

A new five-year work program was adopted in 2024 to ensure that service reviews for 
each local agency under LAFCO’s purview are considered within the legislative deadline. 
The Commission reviews and adopts the work plan on an annual basis. A total of five 
separate service and sphere reviews will be completed this year. Below is a status update 
on each scheduled review. 

1. County Service Area 9 (County Public Works) – The CSA was formed in 1968 to 
provide public works services to the unincorporated county area and the City of Scotts 
Valley. 
 
Tentative Hearing Date: The Commission will consider adopting the service and 
sphere review on March 5, 2025. 
 

2. Countywide Sanitation Districts (12 local agencies in total) – The proposed 
service review will analyze, CSA 2, CSA 5, CSA 7, CSA 10, CSA 20, Davenport 
County Sanitation District, Freedom County Sanitation District, Salsipuedes Sanitary 
District, Santa Cruz County Sanitation District, and the Bear Creek Estates System 
managed by the San Lorenzo Valley Water District.  
 
Tentative Hearing Date: The Commission will consider adopting the service and 
sphere review on May 7, 2025. 
 

3. Pajaro Valley Public Cemetery District – The district was formed in 1955 to provide 
cemetery services in south Santa Cruz County, including a portion of Monterey 
County.  
 
Tentative Hearing Date: The Commission will consider adopting the service and 
sphere review on June 4, 2025. 
 

Page 42 of 106



 

Page 2 of 7 
 

4. Resource Conservation District – The independent district was formed in 1977 to 
help people protect, conserve, and restore natural resources through information, 
education, and technical assistance programs.   
 
Tentative Hearing Date: The Commission will consider adopting the service and 
sphere review on August 6, 2025. 
 

5. Pajaro Valley Health Care District – The District was formed in 2022 through special 
legislation to continue with the provision of acute care and emergency services in 
south Santa Cruz County. State law requires Santa Cruz LAFCO to complete a service 
and sphere review of the district by December 2025. 
 
Tentative Hearing Date: The Commission will consider adopting the service and 
sphere review on November 5, 2025. 
 

OTHER PROJECTS 

Santa Cruz LAFCO currently has four other LAFCO-related projects: 

1. CSA 48 Reorganization Effort: Staff continue to meet and coordinate with 
representatives from the County and CalFire to develop a plan for the potential 
reorganization of CSA 48 into an independent fire district. Staff is scheduled to host 
another stakeholder meeting in the third quarter (January-March).  
 

2. Educational Workshops: LAFCO is planning to host educational workshops tailored 
to the private water systems and road-CSAs in Santa Cruz County. The purpose of 
the workshops is to provide helpful tools for these local entities to succeed. Staff is 
currently working with CSDA to potentially co-host one or both of these workshops.  

 

3. CALAFCO Sustainability: The statewide organization is currently facing some 
internal issues. Various missteps and misjudgments by CALAFCO occurred during 
the 2024 calendar year. In short, there has been a lack of communication and 
transparency – resulting in several LAFCOs considering not to renew their 
membership for the upcoming fiscal year (FY 25-26). Your staff, as the Coastal 
Regional Officer, has coordinated with the 15 Coastal Region LAFCOs to determine 
how to address the ongoing issues. As a result, an “improvement plan” was developed 
by the four regional officers. This plan is scheduled to be presented to the CALAFCO 
Board for consideration and approval on February 7.  
 

4. Upcoming Special Districts Election: The 20 independent special districts in Santa 
Cruz County have three seats on LAFCO.  Two seats will become vacant in May. As 
a result, LAFCO solicited applications from board members of those 20 districts. A 
total of 5 candidates submitted applications to run for the regular and alternate 
member seats: Jim Anderson (Felton FPD, regular member incumbent), Ed Banks 
(Pajaro Valley Public Cemetery District, alternate member incumbent), Lani Faulkner 
(Central Fire District), Alina Layng (San Lorenzo Valley Water District), and Tony 
Nunez (Pajaro Valley Health Care District). Ballots were mailed out on January 27 and 
the voting districts have until March 26 to submit their ballots. The Commission will 
ratify the election results on April 2.  

  

Page 43 of 106



 

Page 3 of 7 
 

BUDGET REPORT 

The second quarter of Fiscal Year 2024-25 ended on December 31, 2024. During this 
three-month period, the Commission received $10,000 in revenue. During the same 
period, the Commission incurred approximately $109,000 in total expenses. In total, 
LAFCO has used 35% of estimated costs for the entire fiscal year, as shown in the table 
below. 

 FY 24-25 
(1st Qtr.) 

FY 24-25 
(2nd Qtr.) 

Available 
Funds 

FY 24-25 
Total Amt 

FY 24-25 
Budget 

Percent 
(%) 

Total Revenue $424,113 $9,954 $351,385 $785,453 $772,150 102% 
Total Expense $160,277 $108,561 - $268,838 $772,150 35% 

Difference $263,837 ($98,607) $351,385 $514,920 - - 
  
$458,856 was the ending balance of the Commission’s reserves: $351,385 was 
earmarked to balance the budget and the remaining $107,471 was designated as 
unrestricted revenue. The unrestricted revenue may be used to address any 
unanticipated expenses during the fiscal year. A detailed review of LAFCO’s financial 
performance during the first and second quarters (July to December) is shown on page 
4. 
 
Fund Balance / Reserves 
As of December 31, 2024, the total fund balance ended with approximately $459,000. 
The following table highlights the fund balance during the entire fiscal year (actual and 
projected). LAFCO’s fund balance typically reaches its peak during the first quarter after 
receiving all the scheduled apportionments from the funding agencies. The ending 
balance of FY 24-25 will be used to balance the new budget in FY 25-26, if needed.  
 

 
  

$202,985.84

$507,085.16

$557,463.52

$520,394.28
$486,051.94

$458,856.49
$431,325.10

$405,445.59
$381,118.86

$358,251.73
$336,756.62

$316,551.23

$0.00

$100,000.00

$200,000.00

$300,000.00

$400,000.00

$500,000.00

$600,000.00

Funding Balance - Ending Amount

Page 44 of 106



 

Page 4 of 7 
 

FY 2024-25 Budget (Financial Performance by Quarter) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FISCAL YEAR 2024-25

FY 24-25

First Qtr.
(Jul - Sep)

FY 24-25 

Second Qtr
(Oct - Dec)

FY 24-25

Adopted 
Budget

FY 24-25 
Actual

Difference 
($)

Budget Line 
Item Notes

REVENUES DESCRIPTION

Interest 4,468$              5,439$              1,500$              9,907$          8,407$            

Contributions from Other Govt Agencies 419,265$        -$                   419,265$        419,265$     -$                 

LAFCO Processing Fees -$                   4,100$              -$                   4,100$          4,100$            

Medical Charges-Employee 381$                  415$                  -$                   796$              796$                

Re-budget from Fund Balance -$                   -$                   351,385$        351,385$     247,985$      

TOTAL REVENUES 424,113$      9,954$            772,150$      785,453$   261,288$    
 Additional Funds in 

Total Revenue 

Regular Pay  $            54,225  $            65,667 260,000$         $      119,893 140,107$      Remaining Funds

Holiday Pay 497$                  3,980$              10,300$            $           4,477 5,823$            Remaining Funds

Social Security 4,186$              4,800$              18,000$            $           8,987 9,013$            Remaining Funds

PERS 68,863$           7,690$              113,000$         $        76,553 36,447$         Remaining Funds

Insurances 10,093$           9,910$              45,000$            $        20,003 24,997$         Remaining Funds

Unemployment -$                   -$                   600$                   $                   -   600$                Remaining Funds

Workers Comp 1,498$              -$                   1,500$               $           1,498 2$                     Remaining Funds

Salaries Sub-total 139,363$      92,048$          $       448,400  $    231,411 216,989$    
 Remaining  Funds in 

Salaries & Benefits 

Telecom 109$                  336$                  1,600$              445$              1,155$            Remaining Funds

Office Equipment -$                   33$                    200$                  33$                 167$                Remaining Funds

Memberships 5,541$              1,809$              7,500$              7,350$          150$                Remaining Funds

Hardware -$                   -$                   -$                   -$               -$                 Remaining Funds

Duplicating -$                   1$                       500$                  1$                   499$                Remaining Funds

PC Software 474$                  -$                   700$                  474$              226$                Remaining Funds

Postage 19$                    -$                   800$                  19$                 781$                Remaining Funds

Subscriptions 2,050$              206$                  3,300$              2,257$          1,043$            Remaining Funds

Supplies -$                   -$                   500$                  -$               500$                Remaining Funds

Accounting -$                   5,000$              14,000$           5,000$          9,000$            Remaining Funds

Attorney 759$                  1,397$              15,000$           2,155$          12,845$         Remaining Funds

Data Process GIS 2,076$              5,481$              9,500$              7,557$          1,943$            Remaining Funds

Director Fees -$                   -$                   5,000$              -$               5,000$            Remaining Funds

Prof. Services 5,234$              650$                  40,000$           5,884$          34,116$         Remaining Funds

Legal Notices 288$                  -$                   4,000$              288$              3,712$            Remaining Funds

Rents -$                   -$                   10,000$           -$               10,000$         Remaining Funds

Misc. Expenses 400$                  525$                  4,000$              925$              3,075$            Remaining Funds

Air Fare -$                   -$                   600$                  -$               600$                Remaining Funds

Training -$                   -$                   500$                  -$               500$                Remaining Funds

Lodging 1,163$              1,076$              2,000$              2,239$          (239)$              Overbudgeted Amount

Mileage -$                   -$                   800$                  -$               800$                Remaining Funds

Travel-Other -$                   -$                   250$                  -$               250$                Remaining Funds

Registrations 2,800$              -$                   3,000$              2,800$          200$                Remaining Funds

Supplies Sub-total 20,914$         16,514$         123,750$      37,427$      86,323$       
 Remaining Funds in 

Services & Supplies 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 160,277$      108,561$      572,150$      268,838$   303,312$    
 Remaining Funds in 

Total Expenditures 

EXPENDITURES DESCRIPTION

Page 45 of 106



 

Page 5 of 7 
 

RECENT & UPCOMING MEETINGS 

LAFCO staff values collaboration with local agencies, the public, and other LAFCOs to 
explore and initiate methods to improve efficiency in the delivery of municipal services. 
During the second quarter (October – December) of 2024, staff participated in over 30 
meetings. For transparency purposes, a summary of those meetings is shown in the 
following table. 

October Meetings 
Topic Date Subject Agency(ies) Purpose 

LAFCO Academy 10/1 CALAFCO 
Staff met with CALAFCO representatives 
to discuss the development of the LAFCO 
Academy. 

UCSC Update 10/1 County and City of  
Santa Cruz 

Staff met with Santa Cruz County and City 
representatives to discuss the ongoing 
UCSC lawsuit.   

New City Manager  10/2 City of Watsonville 
Staff met with the new city manager to 
provide an update on LAFCO-related 
projects affecting the City of Watsonville. 

Countywide Water  10/2 Santa Cruz Water 
Advisory Commission 

Staff participated in the County’s regular 
water commission meeting. 

CALAFCO Conference 10/4 CALAFCO Staff continue their participation in the 
planning committee for the conference.  

CSA 3 Discussion 10/8 CSA 3 (Seascape) 
Representatives 

Staff met with CSA 3 residents to discuss 
the possible formation of a zone to fund 
beach patrol services.  

Private Water Systems 
Breakout Session 10/10 CALAFCO 

Staff held a meeting with the panelists to 
prepare for the upcoming breakout session 
focused on LAFCO’s role with private water 
systems in California.  

CALAFCO Conference 
10/16 

to 
10/28 

CALAFCO Staff attended the 2024 annual conference 
and was part of various session panels.  

LAFCO’s Water 
Consultant 10/22 Piret Harmon Staff met with LAFCO’s water consultant to 

discuss water-related projects/issues. 

UCSC Visit 10/29 Institute of the Arts and 
Sciences 

Staff was invited by the chancellor to 
participate in a water-related event.  

CSA 43 Discussion 10/30 CSA 43 (Bonita Encino) 
Representatives 

Staff met with representatives of CSA 43 to 
discuss ongoing road issues and possible 
solutions. 

 

Page 46 of 106



 

Page 6 of 7 
 

November Meetings 

Topic Date Subject Agency(ies) Purpose 

Joint RFP Effort  
(Fire Study) 11/6 City of Santa Cruz and 

Central Fire District 

Staff continue to meet with representatives 
from the City and District to discuss the 
development of a fire study to explore 
governance options.  

City of Watsonville 11/6 City of Watsonville 
Staff met with the city manager and staff to 
discuss their upcoming general plan 
update. 

Educational Workshops 11/7 Santa Cruz County 
Staff met with county representatives to 
discuss the proposed road/private water 
systems educational workshops. 

CALAFCO Conference 11/7 Los Angeles LAFCO 
Staff met with LA LAFCO staff members to 
discuss the recently completed annual 
conference.  

Fire Update 11/8 Don Jarvis 
Staff met with Santa Cruz LAFCO’s fire 
consultant to discuss various countywide 
fire-related issues/projects. 

CSA 43 Discussion 11/15 CSA 43 (Bonita Encino) 
Representatives 

Staff met with representatives from the 
County and CSA residents to discuss the 
ongoing road-related issues. 

City of Capitola 11/20 City of Capitola Staff met with the city manager to discuss 
the City’s ongoing sphere study. 

Performance Evaluation 11/21 LAFCO 

The Executive Officer and LAFCO Analyst 
met to discuss their performance during 
the 2024 calendar year and identify goals 
for the upcoming year.  

CALAFCO Conference 11/21 CALAFCO 
Staff met with CALAFCO’s Executive 
Director and Regional Officers to evaluate 
and assess the recent annual conference.  

CALAFCO Executive 
Committee Meeting 11/27 CALAFCO 

Staff met with the CALAFCO Executive 
Committee to evaluate and assess the 
recent annual conference. 

 

Page 47 of 106



 

Page 7 of 7 
 

December Meetings 

Topic Date Subject Agency(ies) Purpose 

Big Basin Community 
Meeting 12/3 Court-Appointed Receiver 

Staff attended a community meeting with 
residents of the Big Basin area to discuss 
ongoing water issues.  

Santa Cruz County 
Sanitation District 12/4 Santa Cruz County 

Staff met with County representatives to 
discuss the possible application to 
reorganize the District’s boundaries to be 
consistent with the County’s Urban 
Services Line.  

Legislative Committee 12/6 CALAFCO 

Staff, as CALAFCO’s Omnibus Bill 
Liaison, provided an update on the 
legislative effort to address minor issues 
with LAFCO Law (CKH Act).  

Connecting the Drops 12/9 Santa Cruz County 
Staff met with representatives from the 
County to discuss the proposed 
educational workshop.  

Fire Consolidation  12/11 Contra Costa LAFCO 

Staff attended Contra Costa LAFCO’s 
commission meeting and hear their 
discussion about the proposed fire 
consolidation in their county.  

CALAFCO 12/11 San Mateo LAFCO 
Staff met with San Mateo LAFCO’s 
Executive Officer to discuss CALAFCO’s 
future. 

CSA 48 Reorganization 12/12 Santa Cruz County & 
CalFire 

Staff met with representatives from the 
County and CalFire to discuss the 
proposed reorganization of CSA 48. 

LAFCO’s Water 
Consultant 12/16 Piret Harmon Staff met with LAFCO’s water consultant 

to discuss water-related projects/issues. 

Regular Meeting 12/17 Santa Cruz County  
Board of Supervisors 

Staff attended the last meeting of 
Supervisors Zach Friend and Bruce 
McPherson. 

LAFCO Academy 12/19 California Special 
Districts Association 

Staff met with representatives of CSDA to 
discuss their potential role in the proposed 
LAFCO Academy.  

 

Page 48 of 106



 

Press Articles Staff Report                                                                                                   Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Date:   February 5, 2025 
To:       LAFCO Commissioners 
From:   Francisco Estrada, LAFCO Analyst 
Subject:   Press Articles during the Months of October, November, & December 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
LAFCO staff monitors local newspapers, publications, and other media outlets for any 
news affecting local agencies or LAFCOs around the State. Articles are presented to the 
Commission on a periodic basis. This agenda item is for informational purposes only and 
does not require any action. Therefore, it is recommended that the Commission receive 
and file the Executive Officer’s report. 
______________________________________________________________________ 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
The following is a summary of recent press articles. Full articles are attached.  
 
Article #1: Colantuono, Highsmith, & Whatley, PC Newsletter, Fall 2024. The 
newsletter, dated October 31, provides articles related to actions taken by Governor 
Gavin Newsom to bolster defense of utility rates, the impact of the Ninth Circuit Court’s 
decision in Pimental v. City of Los Angeles, and an update on remote meeting attendance 
for elected officials with disabilities. 
 
Article #2: “Watsonville Community Hospital building, land in local hands after sale 
for $40 million”. The article, dated November 1, announced that the Pajaro Valley Health 
Care District has purchased the 27-acre property, and the building associated with the 
Watsonville Community Hospital for $40 million, bringing the hospital back into community 
ownership. The purchase will result in cost savings of $3 million a year in lease and 
insurance payments and funds will be redirected towards improving health care services.  
 
Article #3: “After a year of drama, Felton Fire District hopes a competitive election 
means a fresh start”. The article, dated November 1, provides the public with an update 
on the Felton Fire Protection District’s electoral race for three open-board seats. The 
articles reports that the field of seven will join a fire district struggling with budget 
shortfalls, staff and volunteer shortages, as well as recent leadership questions and ethics 
violations. 
 
Article #4: “Pajaro Valley Water celebrates 40 years; looking back on struggles and 
looking ahead to new projects”. The article, dated November 5, details the 40th 
anniversary celebration for Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency, which was 
established in 1984 to address the dwindling water supply in the region. The event was 
attended by local and state leaders, both past and present, to honor the struggles and 
achievements of PVWMA, and General Manager Brian Lockwood spoke on the future of 
the agency. 
 

Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation Commission 

Agenda 

Item  

No. 9a 

Page 49 of 106



 

Press Articles Staff Report                                                                                                   Page 2 of 3 
 

Article #5: “SLVWD Board appoints interim general manager”. The article, dated 
November 7, informs the public that the board of the San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
recently approved for John Kunkel to become their interim general manager. The district 
will continue to search for a permanent general manager and the appointment comes at 
a time when more than $13 million in water system upgrades are expected to take place 
in the near future.  
 
Article #6: “Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – 
county fire needs to become an independent fire district”. The article, dated 
November 12, is an opinion piece written by Sanjay Khandelwal, the last chair of the 
county’s fire department advisory commission, advocating to convert CSA 48 into an 
independent fire district. The article provides reason for this position, including financial 
considerations, countywide needs and service levels, use of volunteers, personnel, and 
added oversight through an elected board.   
 
Article #7: “Reorganization of fire districts may include Ophir Hill and Peardale-
Chicago Park over time”. The article, dated November 22, details the challenges faced 
by fire districts within Nevada County to stay financially afloat. The challenges prompted 
Nevada LAFCO to hire AP Triton to conduct a comprehensive fire service study and 
provide recommendations to move forward. The aim of the study is to provide small fire 
districts with ways to share the cost of services evenly in the county, to make note of the 
assets and deficiencies in their service model, and to provide a timeline for the phased 
reorganization of the struggling fire districts in Nevada county.  
 
Article #8: “OCWD highlights benefits of OC LAFCO consolidation study”. The 
article, dated November 23, announces and invites the public to view a study conducted 
by Orange County LAFCO evaluating the benefits and feasibility of consolidating two local 
water agencies. The study follows up with a Grand Jury report that examined potential 
consolidation between the Municipal Water District of Orange County and the Orange 
County Water District. The purpose of the study is to determine if the benefits of 
consolidation align with the best interests of ratepayers and the community. 
 
Article #9: “California reflects on SGMA 10 years later”. The article, dated November 
27, reflects on the impact that the 2014 Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 
(SGMA) has had on farmers and communities across the state since its inception a 
decade ago. The purpose of the SGMA is to help basins achieve long-term sustainability 
by limiting overdraft, land subsidence and impacts to drinking water. Although most water 
agencies have submitted their groundwater sustainability plan, the California Department 
of Water Resources has also rejected some, triggering the state’s intervention process. 
 
Article #10: “City of Santa Cruz must provide UCSC with water as university 
expands”. The article, dated November 27, details the November 21st Sixth Court of 
Appeals ruling that overturned prior rulings requiring LAFCO approval for expanded water 
services into parts of the UCSC campus located outside city limits. In response, the Santa 
Cruz City Council may vote to petition the California Supreme Court to take up the case. 
Along with this case, the city and the university are engaged in another lawsuit regarding 
UCSC’s 2021 Long Range Development Plan.  
 
 
 
 

Page 50 of 106



 

Press Articles Staff Report                                                                                                   Page 3 of 3 
 

Article #11: “Appeals court sides with UCSC over water access dispute with City 
of Santa Cruz”. The article, dated November 27, also covers the recent court decision. 
The three-member appeals court stated that the original agreement committed the city to 
provide water service to new development or parts of the campus outside the city limits 
without distinction.  
 
Article #12: “Fire protection districts sign on for unification”. The article, dated 
November 27, details the annexation of the Diamond Springs-El Dorado Fire Protection 
District into the El Dorado County Fire Protection District. The article goes on to explain 
the annexation process, which required special legislation from the state, and how the 
action has already led to improved efficiencies and cost savings. The article mentions 
that the annexation process was also well received by the public and partner agencies in 
the county. 
 
Article #13: “La Jolla cityhood petition drive ends with “well over” 7,000 
signatures”. The article, dated December 4, provides an update on efforts by advocates 
to gather signatures and move La Jolla towards potentially detaching from the City of San 
Diego to form its own city. Advocates gathered nearly 8,000 signatures and have until 
December 15th to submit their petition to the county registrar and to San Diego LAFCO. 
If approved, the next steps are to submit a feasibility study, have LAFCO consider the 
formal cityhood proposal, and potentially have a ballot initiative in 2026. 
 
Article #14: “LAFCO approves Con Fire annexing Rodeo-Hercules district”. The 
article, dated December 23, provides an update on Contra Costa LAFCO’s decision to 
approve the annexation of Rodeo-Hercules Fire Protection District into the Contra Costa 
County Fire Protection District. Effective July 1, Con Fire will absorb all Rodeo-Hercules’ 
firefighters, support staff, facilities, apparatus, and equipment into its operations. The 
decision came after years of careful study and deliberation, and will yield enhanced fire, 
rescue and EMS services to the communities of Rodeo-Hercules.  
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Francisco Estrada 
LAFCO Analyst 
 
Attachments: 
1. Colantuono, Highsmith, & Whatley, PC Newsletter, Fall 2024 
2. “Watsonville Community Hospital building, land in local hands after sale…” 
3. “After a year of drama, Felton Fire District hopes a competitive election…” 
4. “Pajaro Valley Water celebrates 40 years; looking back on struggles…” 
5. “SLVWD Board appoints interim general manager.” 
6. “Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection…” 
7. “Reorganization of fire districts may include Ophir Hill and Peardale-Chicago…” 
8. “OCWD highlights benefits of OC LAFCO consolidation study.” 
9. “California reflects on SGMA 10 years later.” 
10. “City of Santa Cruz must provide UCSC with water as university expands.” 
11. “Appeals court sides with UCSC over water access dispute with City of Santa Cruz.” 
12. “Fire protection districts sign on for unification.” 
13. “La Jolla cityhood petition drive ends with “well over” 7,000 signatures.” 
14. “LAFCO approves Con Fire annexing Rodeo-Hercules district.” 

Page 51 of 106



Update on Public Law 

Newsletter  |  Fall 2024 

Update on Public Law

COLANTUONO,  HIGHSMITH &  WHATLEY,  PC   GRASS  VALLEY  |  ORANGE COUNTY  |  PASADENA | SACRAMENTO |  SONOMA  

New Statutes Defend Utility Rates 
By Michael G. Colantuono, Esq. 

In September, Governor Newsom signed three statutes to bolster defense of 
water and sewer rates. Action is needed to maximize benefits of one, but all three are 
good news for local governments. 

First, AB 2257 (Wilson, D-Suisun City) makes two helpful changes to the Prop. 
218 Omnibus Implementation Act. First, it authorizes agencies to require those who 
challenge new or increased fees, charges, or assessments for water or sewer services 
to exhaust administrative remedies before suit. That would require litigants to inform 
the agency, in writing, of the legal theories of suit along with a protest under Prop. 
218�s procedures for property-related fees or assessments. If they do not, they cannot 
sue. If they do, they can sue only on the issues an objector raised. The requirements 
for the local remedy (best clarified by ordinance or resolution) are many, but most 
restate existing law. New requirements are that an agency must state in hearing 
notices that an exhaustion requirement applies and must respond in writing to every 
substantive comment made in objection to a proposed rate, charge, or assessment. 
This will require some work and last-minute comments (common in CEQA disputes) 
will slow down ratemaking, but adopting a local policy to clarify and maximize the 
exhaustion requirement ought to be a priority for every local water or sewer provider. 

AB 2257 also provides that Prop. 218 challenges to water and sewer charges, 
fees, and assessments are litigated on the agency�s record of its ratemaking � 
expensive discovery of other information is not permitted on the merits of such 
disputes. This is what many public lawyers understood to be the law, but we have 
been litigating the point and not always winning it. So, this is a helpful change. In 
addition, the statute defines the contents of a ratemaking record, ending expensive 
disputes on that subject, too. These rules take effect in January without local action. 

SB 1072 (Padilla, D-Chula Vista) states that refund remedies are not permitted in 
Proposition 218 challenges to property-related fees, including those for water, sewer 
and trash service. If a challenge to a fee determines that one class of customers or 
another, or all customers, have been overcharged, the necessary repayment is to be 
accomplished in the next ratemaking. This will prevent the multimillion-dollar refunds 
a few cases have awarded, threatening the finances of providers of vital utility 
services. Such refunds wipe out agency reserves, which have to be refunded by rate 
increases, so this is all a very expensive way of shifting money from ratepayers� left 
pocket to their right � generating defense costs and large fee awards to plaintiffs�  

(continued on page 2)

Welcome Ajit Thind, 
Anchor of our O.C. 
Office! 
CHW welcomes Ajit Thind, City 
Attorney of La Palma and 
anchor of our new Orange 
County office. Ajit previously 
served as Assistant City 
Attorney of Laguna Beach, 
Menifee, and San Clemente. 
He also represents the 
operator of the Uptown 
Whittier Community Benefit 
District . 

He has advised a wide variety 
of clients on issues relating to 
open government, land use, 
civil rights, housing, water, 
environmental protection and 
labor/employment.  

His current cases involve the 
role of an elected city 
attorney, disruption at city 
council meetings, and gaming 
regulation. 

He anchors our new Irvine 
office, where Thais Alves, 
Carmen Brock, and Matt Slentz 
also practice. 

Welcome Ajit! Welcome, 
Orange County! 

9A: ATTACHMENT 1

Page 52 of 106



Page 2 Newsletter  |  Fall 2024 

COLANTUONO,  HIGHSMITH &  WHATLEY ,  PC                GRASS  VALLEY  |  ORANGE COUNTY  | PASADENA| SACRAMENTO |  SONOMA

More (But Not Much More) Than �Zilch� Needed to  
Justify Fine and Penalty Amounts 
By Holly O. Whatley, Esq. 

The Ninth Circuit recently expanded on the application 
of the Eighth Amendment�s Excessive Fines Clause to 
municipal fines in Pimentel v. City of Los Angeles (Pimentel II). 
That case follows the Court�s 2020 decision in Pimentel I, 
which found Los Angeles�s $63 parking fine did not violate the 
Eighth Amendment�s Excessive Fines Clause. But Pimentel I 
reversed and remanded as to whether Los Angeles�s $63 late 
fee, 100% of the fine and due if the fine is not paid within 21 
days, violated the Eighth Amendment. On remand, the trial 
court granted summary judgment to Los Angeles, ruling the 
late penalty was not grossly disproportionate to the failure to 
pay timely. In Pimentel II, the Ninth Circuit reversed. 

The opinion takes pains to limit its holding to its 
procedural context, grant of summary judgment, and 
whether the opposing party�s evidence created a triable issue 
of fact. The Court found a genuine factual dispute existed as 
to the City�s basis for the late fee. Plaintiff submitted 
declarations of two former City employees claiming the late 
fee was set only to raise revenue and not to induce timely 
payment. The Court of Appeals found the City provided no 
material evidence to rebut this claim and reversed. The 
decision provides valuable guidance for setting and, if 
necessary, defending fines and penalties. 

First, the opinion reiterates Pimentel I�s holding that 
cities need not prove �strict proportionality� between a fine 
and the seriousness of the offense for which it is imposed. 
But, a local government cannot rely solely on the deference 
afforded such legislation. Here, the Court recognized the 
City�s legitimate interest in ensuring timely payment of 
parking tickets, but declined to find that deference, alone,  
required a conclusion the $63 penalty was proportionate to 
the seriousness of failure to timely pay parking tickets. 

Second, a fine�s revenue-raising purpose does not make 
it unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment. The test is 
whether the fine �bears some relationship to the gravity of 
the offense that it is designed to punish.� That it may also 
generate revenue is irrelevant. 

Third, a city�s evidentiary burden to justify a fine is low, 
but more than �zilch.� A city should demonstrate a fine is 
large enough to deter, but not �grossly out of proportion� to 
the offense. Because the Court found Los Angeles presented 
no evidence as to how or why it set its late fee, summary 

judgment was inappropriate. But the Court noted the burden 
is a �low evidentiary bar� and �just requires the government 
to provide some evidence that the fine amount was not 
wholly arbitrary.� 

When setting fines and penalties, local agencies should 
ensure the record justifies the amount and that it bears some 
relationship to the seriousness of the offense. Though the bar 
is low, an agency must still clear it to defeat an Eighth 
Amendment claim. 

For more information, please contact Holly at 
HWhatley@chwlaw.us or 213.542.5704. 

 

New Statutes Defend 
Utility Rates 

(continued from page 1) 
counsel, too. Orders that rates be corrected will be sufficient 
to protect ratepayers and to enforce Prop. 218. Indeed, this 
was how limits on revenue measures were enforced until the 
advent of class action claims in the last decade. 

Finally, AB 1827 (Papan, D-San Mateo) encourages 
adoption of tiered water rates, which make water 
progressively more expensive as customers use more of it � 
to encourage conservation. The statute is declaratory of 
existing law and allows the use of peaking factors (the extent 
to which a customer�s or customer class�s peak use exceeds 
its average or typical use) to allocate costs to rate tiers � a 
common approach. It may make such rates more easily 
defended notwithstanding published losses for the City of San 
Juan Capistrano and the Otay Water District. 

Good news for local ratemakers! Further developments 
are coming as the Supreme Court must act by year end on 
San Jose�s petition for review in a regulatory fee case under 
Prop. 26 and requests that the decision be depublished 
(making it authority only as to San Jose, binding no other 
agency). Stay tuned! 

For more information, please contact Michael at 
MColantuono@chwlaw.us or 530.432.7357.

 

Page 53 of 106



Page 3 Newsletter  |  Fall 2024 

COLANTUONO,  HIGHSMITH &  WHATLEY ,  PC                GRASS  VALLEY  |  ORANGE COUNTY  | PASADENA| SACRAMENTO |  SONOMA

Remote Meeting Attendance for Disabled Elected Officials 
By Aleks R. Giragosian, Esq. 

The Ralph M. Brown Act governs the conduct of 
meetings of a local legislative body. In 1988, the Brown Act 
was first amended to authorize remote participation. In 2021, 
AB 361 amended the Brown Act to authorize remote 
participation during a state of emergency (like COVID). In 
2022, AB 2449 amended the Brown Act to authorize remote 
participation for �just cause� or an �emergency 
circumstance.� �Just cause� includes �a need related to a 
physical or mental disability � not otherwise accommodated 
by [the ADA].� 

The Americans with Disabilities Act prohibits 
discrimination against disabled people. Under the ADA, a 
public agency must offer a �reasonable accommodation� as 
to its programs, services, and public facilities to a �qualified 
individual� with a disability. 

In July 2024, the California Attorney General published 
Opinion No. 23-1002. The Opinion concludes members of a 
legislative body are �qualified individuals� under the ADA, 
and that the ADA may require remote participation 
consistent with the just cause exception as a �reasonable 
accommodation� for a disabled member of the legislative 
body. 

AB 2449 limits the use of its just cause exception to no 
more than two meetings per calendar year. In September 
2024, the Governor signed AB 2302, which takes effect 
January 1, 2025. AB 2302 places a combined limit on the 
number of times a member of a legislative body may use the 
just cause and emergency circumstances exceptions to:  

 two meetings per year, if the body meets once a 
month or less frequently; 

 five meetings per year, if it meets twice a month; 
and 

 seven meetings per year, if it meets three or more 
times a month. 

Unlike the Brown Act, the ADA does not limit the 
number of times a member of a legislative body may 
participate remotely. Because federal law preempts contrary 
state law, the Brown Act�s limits under AB 2449 and AB 2302 
do not apply to a disabled member of a legislative body. The 
Attorney General�s Opinion notes this distinction, stating, 
�The most logical explanation � is that the Legislature 
presupposed that a member may already participate 
remotely for an unlimited number of sessions as an ADA 
accommodation.� 

Therefore, if a member of a local legislative body 
demonstrates a disability protected by the ADA, the agency 
can follow the requirements of the just cause exception and 
waive any caps on frequency under the Brown Act. 

Note that the Opinion does not allow remote 
participation in public meetings by staff or members of the 
public. The Opinion will likely raise questions as to disabled 
members of staff or the public, however, and public agencies 
should be prepared to consult counsel if a request is made by 
one who makes an adequate showing of disability preventing 
him or her from attending a meeting in person. 

For more information, please contact Aleks at 
AGiragosian@chwlaw.us or 213.542.5734. 

 

We�ve Got Webinars! 
 
CH&W offers webinars on a variety of 
public law topics including districting 
and redistricting, this year�s 32 new 
housing laws; personnel, public works, 
and management issues under COVID-
19; and police personnel records. 
Current topics are listed on our website 
under �Resources.� Our webinars 
provide advice and Q&A for public 
agency counsel and staff in an attorney-
client-privileged setting for $1,500 per 
agency. 

To schedule a webinar, contact 
Bill Weech at BWeech@chwlaw.us or 
(213) 542-5700. 

Page 54 of 106



420 S IERRA  COLLEGE DRIVE 
SU ITE  140 
GRASS  VALLEY ,  CA  95945  

Are you on our list?  To subscribe to our newsletter or to update your information, complete the form 
below and fax it to 530.432.7356. You can also call Marta Farmer at 530.432.7357 or subscribe via our 
website at https://chwlaw.us/newsletter-subscribe/. 

Name  Title 

Affiliation 

Address 
 

City  State  Zip Code 

Phone  Fax 

E-mail 

  Mail    Email    Both 

Our newsletter is available as a printed document sent by US Mail and as a PDF file sent by email. 
Please let us know how you would like to receive your copy. 

The contents of this newsletter do not constitute legal advice. You should seek the opinion of qualified  
counsel regarding your specific situation before acting on the information provided here.  

Copyright © 2024 Colantuono, Highsmith & Whatley, PC. All rights reserved.  

PRESORTED 
FIRST-CLASS MAIL 

U.S. POSTAGE 
PAID 

LOS ANGELES, CA 
PERMIT #200 

Page 55 of 106



lookout.co

Watsonville Community Hospital
building, land in local hands after sale for
$40 million

Tania Ortiz

4–5 minutes

Watsonville Community Hospital. Credit: Kevin Painchaud / Lookout

Santa Cruz

Quick Take

Friday's announcement that the Pajaro Valley Health Care District had

purchased the 27-acre property and the building that's home to

Watsonville Community Hospital clears the way for funds from March's

Measure N to be used to improve the hospital building.

Watsonville Community Hospital building, land in local hands after sale ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fwatsonville-commu...

1 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:38 AM

9A: ATTACHMENT 2

Page 56 of 106



Ownership of the Watsonville Community Hospital building and

surrounding land is back under local control. The Pajaro Valley Health

Care District announced on Friday that it had purchased the 27-acre

property for $40 million from an Alabama-based real estate investment

firm with money from Measure N, a $116 million bond passed by county

voters in March. 

The purchase of the property from Alabama-based Medical Properties

Trust — a real estate investment firm that acquires and leases hospital

facilities — was the final threshold to pass for the hospital to be “truly

owned by the community,” said Stephen Gray, CEO of the Pajaro Valley

Health Care District and Watsonville Community Hospital. 

MORE

Now, the hospital will be able to save $3 million a year in lease and

insurance payments, and can redirect that money to invest in improving

health care services. 

In 2021, Halsen Healthcare, previous owner of Watsonville Community

Hospital, filed for bankruptcy and almost caused the hospital to shut

down. The Pajaro Valley Healthcare District Project — formed by local

organizations, Santa Cruz County and the City of Watsonville — raised

more than $60 million to purchase the hospital. 

Advertisement

As the community was fundraising to purchase the hospital, Assembly

Watsonville Community Hospital building, land in local hands after sale ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fwatsonville-commu...

2 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:38 AMPage 57 of 106



Speaker Robert Rivas and state Sen. John Laird pushed forward Senate

Bill 418, which created the Pajaro Valley Health Care District — making

the hospital publicly owned. 

The sale of the hospital didn’t include the building or land, but included a

clause offering the Pajaro Valley Health Care District first right of refusal to

acquire the property for $40 million. That provision was set to expire Dec.

31, 2025. After months of consideration, the Pajaro Valley Health Care

District’s board voted in September to pursue the purchase.  

The move will clear the way for funds from Measure N to be used to

improve the hospital building.

“The fastest that we could finally become the owners of this hospital, the

better that is for the hospital for the community,” board chair Tony Nuñez

told Lookout in September. “As soon as we become the owners of the

hospital, everything else that was included in the measure opens up.” 

Nuñez said that although the district technically could have made

improvements to the building under its lease agreement, the board

preferred to own it outright prior to spending millions of dollars on projects

that will include purchasing a new CT scanner and doubling the size of the

hospital’s emergency department.

Not only is this a huge win for the healthcare district, the hospital, the

foundation and every person who works there, Nuñez told Lookout on

Friday, it’s also a big win for the community and people who believed the

hospital could reach this milestone. 

Advertisement

Watsonville Community Hospital building, land in local hands after sale ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fwatsonville-commu...

3 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:38 AMPage 58 of 106



“I’m just blown away by the fact that we’re here faster than I thought we

were going to be because the option was to purchase by the end of 2025

and we’re in October, or, I guess, now Nov. 1, 2024, and we’re the owners

of the hospital,” said Nuñez.

A few of the next tasks for the hospital include bringing in more primary

care providers to its clinics and improving access to preventative care in

the community, where there’s a huge need for it, he said. 

Have something to say? Lookout welcomes letters to the editor,

within our policies, from readers. Guidelines here.

Tania Ortiz joins Lookout Santa Cruz as the California Local News Fellow

to cover South County. Tania earned her master’s degree in journalism in

December 2023 from Syracuse University, where she was... More by

Tania Ortiz

Watsonville Community Hospital building, land in local hands after sale ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fwatsonville-commu...

4 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:38 AMPage 59 of 106



lookout.co

After a year of drama, Felton Fire District
hopes a competitive election means a
fresh start

Christopher Neely

4–6 minutes

The Felton Fire Protection District firehouse. Credit: Kevin Painchaud /

Lookout Santa Cruz

Quick Take

Felton Fire Protection District’s three open board seats have drawn seven

candidates, as the embattled agency faces funding gaps, leadership

upheaval and ethics violations.

Among the more competitive races in Santa Cruz County this fall is the

After a year of drama, Felton Fire District hopes a competitive election... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Ffelton-fire-after-yea...

1 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:36 AM

9A: ATTACHMENT 3

Page 60 of 106



competition for three open board of director seats for the Felton Fire

Protection District, which has struggled with budget shortfalls, staff and

volunteer shortages, leadership questions and ethics violations. 

Seven candidates have filed to fill the three openings on the five-person

board, responsible for the district’s finances and holding the fire chief,

which it hires, accountable. The Felton Fire Protection District serves

roughly 6,000 residents, with a $1.7 million budget. 

Felton finds itself facing the same dire resource constraints as many rural

fire departments throughout California and in Santa Cruz County. The

district is funded primarily through a parcel tax formula that hasn’t been

updated in decades, while hollowed volunteer ranks — the bread and

butter of its force — have left it relying more on outside help to meet its call

volume. 

“As a whole, the fire service in rural areas are overlooked and

underfunded by a lot,” Fire Captain Ian Jones told Lookout over the

summer. “If we’re going to keep building new stuff and adding sources of

call volumes without augmenting our service, it’s going to come to a

head.” 

Advertisement

Despite a revolving door of interim and acting chiefs, the station hasn’t

had a permanent fire chief since Chief Robert Gray left in October 2023.

On Wednesday, the Felton Fire Protection District announced an

agreement with Ben Lomond Fire Protection District to share the latter’s

After a year of drama, Felton Fire District hopes a competitive election... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Ffelton-fire-after-yea...

2 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:36 AMPage 61 of 106



chief, Stacie Brownlee, and Mike Ayers, its training chief. 

In a media release, the district announced the hybrid chief model would

last for at least two years, and help the district save money while

increasing its firefighting force. The agreement comes months after

Felton struck a deal with Zayante Fire Protection District to similarly share

resources. 

The district has also been dealing with accusations of ethics violations on

the board of directors. In April, two of the five board members stepped

down due to violations of the Brown Act, the state statute that governs

public meetings law, leaving only three votes on the board. Then, in June,

board member Mike Shults took one of the district’s water tender vehicles

to fill his personal pool without permission, and later admitted to it. District

legal counsel Cassie Bronson in August said the board of directors could

either admonish or censure Shults. Shults had to recuse himself from

deliberations on the issue, which left only board chair Jim Anderson and

vice chair Norm Crandell. The board needs three votes to take any action,

which has left it stalled out on how to respond. 

Shults, appointed to the board in January, is among the seven candidates

seeking a full, four-year seat on the board. He is joined by salesperson

Adam Hensleigh, local business owners Jeff Myers and Doug Conrad,

communications manager Mark Giblin, retired bank manager Judy

Anderson and Erica Schwanbeck, a manager with the county’s human

services department. 

Lookout was able to reach only Myers, who said he’d been paying

attention to much of the drama over the past year and thought his small

business acumen could help balance the budget and lead a department

that has suffered from infighting and morale issues. 

“Board members should work to present themselves in a way that doesn’t

create friction as much, and have a positive outlook,” Myers said. “They

still have a ways to go with the budget and how to keep everything

staffed.”

Advertisement

After a year of drama, Felton Fire District hopes a competitive election... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Ffelton-fire-after-yea...

3 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:36 AMPage 62 of 106



Have something to say? Lookout welcomes letters to the editor,

within our policies, from readers. Guidelines here.

Over the past decade, Christopher Neely has built a diverse journalism

résumé, spanning from the East Coast to Texas and, most recently,

California’s Central Coast.Chris reported from Capitol Hill... More by

Christopher Neely

After a year of drama, Felton Fire District hopes a competitive election... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Ffelton-fire-after-yea...

4 of 4 11/5/2024, 9:36 AMPage 63 of 106



santacruzsentinel.com

Pajaro Valley Water celebrates 40 years;
looking back on struggles and looking
ahead to new projects

Nick Sestanovich

5–6 minutes

WATSONVILLE — In 1984, amid concerns of dwindling water supply in

the region, the Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency was established

by the California Legislature to manage water supplies in the Pajaro

Valley and prevent an increase in long-term overdraft.

The agency celebrated with a party in the Community Room of the

Watsonville Civic Plaza with speeches, slideshows of photos illustrating

the history of the agency and an array of appetizers, sandwiches, cookies

and a cake catered by Busy Bee’s Cafe. The agency also gave out free

hose nozzles and shower heads to attendees.

Amy Newell, chair of the PV Water board of directors, thanked the

agency’s founders for working with the Pajaro Valley’s state

representatives at the time, including Assemblyman Sam Farr and state

Sen. Henry Mello, to put forth legislation that would get the agency off the

ground.

“We can’t thank them enough for their foresight and their wisdom and,

frankly, their guts,” she said. “The idea of putting meters on agricultural

wells and charging people according to how much water they pumped

was not a very straight path to popularity back then, to put it mildly.”

The roots of Pajaro Valley Water date back to 1980 when the Pajaro

Pajaro Valley Water celebrates 40 years; looking back on struggles and ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2F...

1 of 5 11/18/2024, 3:26 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 4

Page 64 of 106



Valley’s basin was singled out by the California Department of Water

Resources as one of 11 basins with critical conditions of overdraft, which

occurs when the amount of groundwater extracted from a basin exceeds

its annual replenishment. An ad hoc group was formed to draw the

agency’s boundaries — which include the city of Watsonville and portions

of Santa Cruz, Monterey and San Benito counties — and develop its

goals. The legislation was approved in Sacramento and by local voters in

the November 1984 election, which established Pajaro Valley Water as a

state-chartered water management agency.

Since then, the agency has taken on projects such as the recharge basin

facility at Harkins Slough, upgraded Watsonville Wastewater Treatment

Plant and the College Lake pipeline project, currently in progress.

0:00 / 0:00

Page 65 of 106



Visit Advertiser websiteGO TO PAGE

Newell said it was a “wonderful coincidence” that Pajaro Valley Water was

celebrating its 40th anniversary right as the College Lake project — aimed

at connecting a pipeline to deliver treated water from College Lake to

more than 5,500 acres of farmland through Pajaro Valley Water’s Coastal

Distribution System — is under construction.  Newell learned about the

College Lake Project in 2011, when first engaging with PV Water on a

planning committee.

“It’s gonna be a tremendous boon” to have more delivered water available

to growers on the coast, she said.

After some proclamations by Santa Cruz Supervisor Felipe Hernandez as

well as state Sen. John Laird and Assembly Speaker Robert Rivas’

Pajaro Valley Water celebrates 40 years; looking back on struggles and ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2F...

3 of 5 11/18/2024, 3:26 PMPage 66 of 106



offices, Monterey County Supervisor Glenn Church talked about how

ahead of the curve the agency was when it came to addressing water

issues.

Sergio Zárate of state Sen. John Laird’s office, center, presents Amy

Newell, chair of the Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency Board of

Directors, with a proclamation honoring the agency’s 40th anniversary.

Also pictured is General Manager Brian Lockwood. (Nick Sestanovich –

Santa Cruz Sentinel)

“You really set the trend, you really set a vision and the state followed,” he

said. “This is 30 years before SGMA (The Sustainable Groundwater

Management Act). I sit on the Salinas Valley Basin Groundwater

Sustainability Agency. It started in 2017. I feel almost embarrassed to say

that because I’m right here looking at a community that saw a problem in

the ’80s. Everyone saw a problem, but nobody went for it to do it.”

Dennis Osmer, former board director and Watsonville mayor, joked that

he was not sure if the previous speeches could be construed as a

celebration or revisionist history. He said the agency underwent a

massive struggle in the beginning.

Pajaro Valley Water celebrates 40 years; looking back on struggles and ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2F...

4 of 5 11/18/2024, 3:26 PMPage 67 of 106



“For 25, 30 of those years, it was war,” he said. “It was serious war

between people, not so much divided on certain lines, but certainly

everybody in the water business has a strong opinion, it seems.”

Osmer said this all culminated in the loss of a lawsuit in 2008 that

challenged the agency’s water rate increases.

“We were in a very bad place for a very long time,” he said.

Osmer said the matter of whether the agency should continue went

before voters, who determined it should. He said one of the most

important things he learned was that the best solution was the one people

could agree on.

“If there’s serious contention in the community, it’s not the right solution,”

he said. “We persevered, and during that time when things were really

bad at the agency, we simply put one foot in front of the other and got

through it.”

PV Water General Manager Brian Lockwood said the agency has a lot of

exciting projects moving forward, including a $2 million grant for a

watershed resilience plan, a collaboration with the California Department

of Conservation on an $8.9 million Multibenefit Land Repurposing

Program grant and the Recharge Net Metering program with UC Santa

Cruz.

“Our success is really largely thanks to all the folks in this room and so

many others who aren’t here,” he said.

Originally Published: October 30, 2024 at 4:34 PM PST

Pajaro Valley Water celebrates 40 years; looking back on struggles and ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.santacruzsentinel.com%2F...

5 of 5 11/18/2024, 3:26 PMPage 68 of 106



pressbanner.com

SLVWD Board appoints interim general
manager - Press Banner | Scotts Valley,
CA

Staff Report

1–2 minutes

San Lorenzo Valley Water District (Contributed)

San Lorenzo Valley Water District (SLVWD) Board of Directors recently

announced it has approved a contract for John Kunkel to be interim

general manager.

Kunkel has extensive experience in local government. A former chief of

police, he has served as city manager in several communities. Most

recently, he was the interim city manager for the City of Huron in Fresno

County.

SLVWD Board appoints interim general manager - Press Banner | Scott... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fpressbanner.com%2Fslvwd-board...

1 of 2 11/18/2024, 3:42 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 5

Page 69 of 106



The Board of Directors approved his contract at its Oct. 17 meeting.

Kunkel started work on Oct. 28. While Kunkel serves as interim general

manager, the District will continue to search for a permanent general

manager.

The District is undertaking more than $13 million in water system upgrade

work through its Safeguarding San Lorenzo Valley program, which will fix

aging infrastructure by replacing undersized pipelines, hardening against

wildfires, ensuring more reliable water infrastructure and adding fire

hydrants to improve water supply resiliency and increase firefighting

capabilities.

SLVWD Board appoints interim general manager - Press Banner | Scott... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fpressbanner.com%2Fslvwd-board...

2 of 2 11/18/2024, 3:42 PMPage 70 of 106



lookout.co

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural
wildland fire protection – county fire
needs to become an independent fire
district

Sanjay Khandelwal

7–8 minutes

Quick Take

For years, Santa Cruz County has not paid enough attention to

community fire protection and safe movement, particularly in the rural

wildland districts that ring the county, writes Sanjay Khandelwal. Now, he

writes, it’s time. Lessons from the 2020 CZU fire mean we need an urgent

rethink of how we handle fire protection. For Khandelwal, a Summit

resident who served as the last chair of the county’s fire department

advisory commission, an important step is converting county fire, which

has a $10.8 million budget, into an independent fire district. The board of

supervisors is considering this, and Khandelwal hopes the new board will

push forward with this needed change.

Have something to say? Lookout welcomes letters to the editor,

within our policies, from readers. Guidelines here.

The elections are over and the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors

will soon look different, with Monica Martinez and either Kim De Serpa or

Kristen Brown likely joining the all-male board. I hope the new board will

support the sorely needed changes afoot with Santa Cruz County Fire. 

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – coun... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fsanta-cruz-county-...

1 of 7 11/12/2024, 9:15 AM

9A: ATTACHMENT 6

Page 71 of 106



Over the past few years, the Santa Cruz County Civil Grand Jury has

issued a number of investigative reports on fire protection, including one

after the CZU fire. A recurrent theme of these reports is the lack of

attention the county government pays to community protection and

creating safe evacuation routes. Despite these reports, not much has

changed over the years. 

Until now.

Advertisement

At the September meeting, the board of supervisors voted to explore the

potential to convert county fire into an independent fire district or merging

it with an existing fire district. As the last chair of the fire department

advisory commission (FDAC), I pushed for this.

In my 2½ years on FDAC, I realized how big a concern the financial and

oversight model was. We had big, unanswered questions, like would we

be able to pay for the needed services or do we need to go ask for more

taxes, and whom do we ask and who will drive this? 

The cost to provide fire and emergency services continues to increase.

Equipment is aging and needs to be maintained and upgraded. Fire

season is becoming longer and winters shorter, causing Cal Fire to want

to renegotiate the contract with our community. There are many issues

around service levels, use of volunteers, financial sustainability and

oversight. 

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – coun... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fsanta-cruz-county-...

2 of 7 11/12/2024, 9:15 AMPage 72 of 106



Now, an independent fire district is not a panacea but will, hopefully,

resolve many of these issues. 

An independent fire district will give us an elected and dedicated board

that will work with Cal Fire, and with our volunteers, and be clearly

responsible for getting essential emergency services to residents in

unincorporated areas that ring the county. This will take those

responsibilities away from the board.   

It has to be better than what we have now. 

Advertisement

Santa Cruz County Fire currently operates under the guidance and

direction of the board of supervisors. As various grand jury reports and a

recent master plan assessment done by an independent consultant

show, county fire has not received sufficient guidance or direction. 

Oversight is buried in the county reporting structure. The fire chief gets to

speak at a board of supervisors meeting once a year. Every year, the

budget gets approved by rote, as part of the  consent agenda, but is not

deemed important for any discussion. 

Two-thirds of Santa Cruz County is considered a wildland-urban interface

(WUI), putting a large percentage of our population, housing, economy,

wildlife and environment at risk from catastrophic fire. A vast part of this

population is in County Service Area 48, which covers most of North

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – coun... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fsanta-cruz-county-...

3 of 7 11/12/2024, 9:15 AMPage 73 of 106



County, including Davenport and Bonny Doon, extends down the Summit

area, and goes all the way to Corralitos. It’s a big area.

Credit: County of Santa Cruz

County fire provides us services including traditional fire protection, but

also medical first response for emergencies, rescue services and

hazardous materials response. It also conducts fire inspections, plans

reviews, does fire-cause and arson investigations and offers public

education and prevention programs. 

County fire in Santa Cruz is mainly comprised of Cal Fire personnel. In

addition, there are six  volunteer companies, with about 70 volunteers

(they always need more!). All these volunteers are much loved and

appreciated. In the Summit area, our beloved Loma Prieta Fire and

Rescue is considered part of county fire. 

Santa Cruz County Fire has been operating under an Amador contract

with Cal Fire since 1948. Things started to change with the increase of

catastrophic fires across the state, including the CZU fire in an area that is

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – coun... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fsanta-cruz-county-...

4 of 7 11/12/2024, 9:15 AMPage 74 of 106



part of CSA 48. Cal Fire holds the contract to provide services to county

fire, but has started to push back on the Amador contract – which, to be

honest, does need to be changed and updated. We are no longer in 1948,

right? 

In December 2023, the fire department advisory commission (FDAC)

received a 272-page master fire plan report prepared by an outside

county consultant. It offered a pretty good assessment of the current state

of county fire, as does FDAC’s assessment of the report.

Look under other documents for the Jan. 17 meeting. This report, along

with the FDAC assessment, was also presented to the board of

supervisors on Sept. 24. Here is the board presentation.    

Advertisement

On Oct. 2, the Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation Commission also

recommended reorganizing CSA 48.

 All signs point to the same thing: Iit is time to reorganize CSA 48. 

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – coun... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fsanta-cruz-county-...

5 of 7 11/12/2024, 9:15 AMPage 75 of 106



Sanjay Khandelwal. Credit: Kayleigh Khandelwal

The board presentation came with a recommendation that the county

explore the feasibility of converting county fire into an independent fire

district.

At the same September meeting, the board disbanded FDAC,

recognizing it as an ineffective oversight group. Finally. 

That has left us where we are. 

We need county fire. Period. And we need the right oversight to ensure

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – coun... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fsanta-cruz-county-...

6 of 7 11/12/2024, 9:15 AMPage 76 of 106



that these emergency response services are provided to us at the right

service levels, at the right cost and by the right trained personnel. 

It’s about time we look at alternatives.

Advertisement

Sanjay Khandelwal is a 20-plus-year Summit area resident who

describes himself as a multipotentialite, i.e., someone with many interests

and creative pursuits. To pay for all of them, he currently works in mergers

and acquisitions and has served as an executive/consultant for

companies like Hewlett Packard, Agilent Technologies, Spring Education,

Twitter and Carbon 3D. Currently, he runs the 95033Talk community

group in the Summit area, is the board president of the Loma Prieta

Community Foundation and is on the board of the Fire Safe Council of

Santa Cruz County. He served as the last chair of the fire department

advisory commission. 

Santa Cruz County needs to rethink rural wildland fire protection – coun... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fsanta-cruz-county-...

7 of 7 11/12/2024, 9:15 AMPage 77 of 106



theunion.com

Reorganization of fire districts may
include Ophir Hill and Peardale-Chicago
Park over time

Marianne Boll-See Staff Writer

8–9 minutes

Fire districts within Nevada County have been working to stay afloat over

the past several years; with inflation as it is, balancing expenses and

revenue can be a challenge.

About a year and a half ago, Rough and Ready Fire Protection District

(Rough and Ready) was forced to reduce its staffing, and Fire Station #59

located in the heart of the community, was only in service a few days a

week.

Talk of dissolving other smaller fire districts in the area and across the

state seemed to be contagious.

Finally in the summer of 2023 the Nevada County Board of Supervisors

agreed to Rough and Ready’s request for up to $1 million in temporary

gap funding to operate Station #59 fulltime over the next two years.

A plan for the reorganization of three fire districts into one, may evolve to

include several more small districts over the next decade.

Ophir Hill Fire Protection District made a decision in June of 2024 to take

steps to join the efforts of Rough and Ready, Penn Valley Fire Protection

District (PVFPD), and Nevada County Consolidated Fire Protection

District (Consolidated) in their reorganization plans.

Reorganization of fire districts may include Ophir Hill and Peardale-Ch... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.theunion.com%2Fnews%2F...

1 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:45 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 7

Page 78 of 106



To make the reorganization happen, the Nevada County Local Agency

Formation Commission (LAFCo) enlisted the services of AP Triton to

conduct a comprehensive Fire Service Review (the Review) for Nevada

County.

The final draft of the Municipal Service Review and Sphere of Influence

Update was approved by the LAFCo Commission during yesterday’s

meeting at the Eric Rood Administrative Center.

“We’re very excited. This Review validates a lot of what we’ve been

working on,” Fire Chief Jason Robitaille from Nevada County

Consolidated Fire said. “We’re going to take this as a guiding document.”

There is more work to be done to save the small fire districts and to

spread the costs of services evenly across the county, but the Review

offered sound recommendations.

“Our reorganization is not finalized. We still have to do the application, but

this put this on the right path to what we’re trying to accomplish. We still

have our work to do,” Robitaille said.

The consultant AP Triton confirmed that the Western County three fire

districts would need “a sphere of influence that reflects the Commission’s

understanding that these districts will reorganize and become one,” SR

Jones, Executive Officer of LAFCo said.

“They also approved an addition of Peardale-Chicago Park Fire

Protection District to that sphere, the inclusion of Peardale as a long term

sphere for that consolidated district,” Jones said. “Indicating that even

though Peardale is not engaged in discussions and does not seem to be

moving towards the reorganization at this time, the understanding is that

probably eventually they will want to.”

The consultants concluded that Higgins Area Fire Protection District is

currently “financially capable at this point,” Jones said.

A sphere of influence for North San Juan, which included about 2,000

Reorganization of fire districts may include Ophir Hill and Peardale-Ch... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.theunion.com%2Fnews%2F...

2 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:45 PMPage 79 of 106



acres, was also adopted, as well as a sphere of influence for Truckee.

The Washington County Water District and mostly volunteer fire

department was included in the study, but is not expected to enlarge its

sphere of influence at this time.

Washington County Water District requested the commission defer taking

action on the sphere boundaries presented in the draft resolution.

Key findings and recommendations

The fire service providers are working very well together to meet the

needs of their communities, and the high level of cooperation and

coordination amongst the agencies was especially noted by the

consultants.

The fire service in Nevada County is significantly under-staffed, with two-

person companies being the norm. The commonly accepted industry

standard is three-person fire companies.

The fact that all fire agencies are dispatched by the CAL FIRE Grass

Valley Emergency Command Center (GVECC) is a tremendous

advantage in ensuring the most effective response to calls for service.

There are a significant number of fire stations within the county that are

unstaffed. The responsible agencies should determine which facilities

may be needed in the future and develop plans to dispose of surplus real

estate.

The presence of the Sierra College Fire Training Center, co-located with

Grass Valley Fire Station 2, is a tremendous asset to the fire services in

western Nevada County. The fire agencies should continue to collaborate

to take full advantage of the opportunities presented by their proximity to

the facility.

Grass Valley Fire Department is impacted by the number of responses

the three stations are handling. The system may be nearing capacity. The

service demand is, in part, driven by the number of Automatic aid calls

Reorganization of fire districts may include Ophir Hill and Peardale-Ch... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.theunion.com%2Fnews%2F...

3 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:45 PMPage 80 of 106



into adjacent unincorporated areas.

Sharing the costs

The final draft of the Review document also recognized that although

several districts have since passed special taxes or increased

assessments, these measures have not always kept pace with cost

increases, and other measures have failed.

The Review determined who is responsible for responding to and paying

for the suppression of wildland fires — whether it be federal, state, or local

agencies.

The allocation of property tax share to the different districts varies

significantly.

Differences in the levels of assessments range from zero to $416

annually, according to the Review.

“There is not a direct correlation between the amount of assessment and

the level of service- in fact, some of the highest assessments are in

districts with the lowest levels of service,” according to the Review.

During the public comment period, retired Sheriff Captain the Nevada

County Sheriff’s Department Lee Osborne questioned the fee structures

last implemented in 1990.

“We’ve got to have some way to have the income come up so that we

don’t incur the cost of going for a special election that is really skewed

towards the few people who just don’t want to pay but they want the

services,” Osborne said.

Creating revenue to provide for fire and emergency services will be dealt

with after the reorganization is complete.

“Once reorganization takes place and the dust settles a little bit, then it will

be up to the reorganization district to establish those long term fees, but

that’s a great takeaway, as far as making sure we’re not stuck in Dark

Ages,” Joshua Susman, Chair of the Nevada County LAFCo said.

Reorganization of fire districts may include Ophir Hill and Peardale-Ch... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.theunion.com%2Fnews%2F...

4 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:45 PMPage 81 of 106



Recommended actions

AP Triton recommends that the Nevada County Consolidated, Penn

Valley, Rough and Ready, and Ophir Hill fire districts reorganize into a

single fire district as soon as practical.

It is further recommended that the Peardale-Chicago Park Fire District

join with the newly formed district when the timing is appropriate,

sometime within five to ten years.

AP Triton recommends that the property tax transfer agreement required

by Revenue and Taxation Code Section 99 be utilized within the

limitations of state law to negotiate an increase in the property tax

allocation to the reorganized fire district.

An agreement to shift enough property tax revenue from the County to the

District to make the reorganization financially feasible is a policy decision

that the Board of Supervisors can make to support the emergency

response system in the west county.

A

P Triton recommends that the reorganized fire district place a single,

consistent supplemental assessment that includes a cost-of-living

allowance before the voters or landowners, as the case may be, within 3

years of the date the reorganization.

The funding derived from the new assessment structure should provide

for three-person engine crews at least at key fire stations.

Reorganization of fire districts may include Ophir Hill and Peardale-Ch... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.theunion.com%2Fnews%2F...

5 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:45 PMPage 82 of 106



mavensnotebook.com

PRESS RELEASE: OCWD highlights
benefits of OC LAFCO consolidation
study

Press Release/Notice

~2 minutes

Press release from the Orange County Water District:

The Orange County Water District (OCWD; the District) announces the

release of an Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission (OC

LAFCO) study evaluating the benefits and feasibility of consolidating

OCWD and the Municipal Water District of Orange County (MWDOC). 

This effort aims to improve government efficiency, reduce redundancies,

and better serve ratepayers.

OCWD requested this study following a June 2022 Orange County Grand

Jury report recommending the consolidation of the two agencies. OC

LAFCO’s unbiased analysis examines whether consolidating MWDOC, a

smaller agency, with OCWD’s larger operation could yield benefits. With

both agencies already sharing a headquarters in Fountain Valley, the

potential for integration may be simplified.

Consolidation offers improved coordination of imported water and local

groundwater, operational efficiencies through cost savings, enhanced

PRESS RELEASE: OCWD highlights benefits of OC LAFCO consolid... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fmavensnotebook.com%2F2024%...

1 of 2 12/11/2024, 2:46 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 8

Page 83 of 106



accountability with a unified water agency, and stronger advocacy at state

and federal levels. OCWD believes it is worth exploring consolidation to

assess whether these benefits align with the best interests of ratepayers

and the community.

The public is encouraged to review the study and share their feedback.

Written comments will be accepted from November 15, 2024, through

December 30, 2024, until 5:00 p.m. Feedback can be submitted via email

to ltapia@oclafco.org.

For more details on the proposed consolidation and to learn about

OCWD’s commitment to delivering a reliable water supply to 2.5 million

people, please visit the OCWD website.

PRESS RELEASE: OCWD highlights benefits of OC LAFCO consolid... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fmavensnotebook.com%2F2024%...

2 of 2 12/11/2024, 2:46 PMPage 84 of 106



agalert.com

California reflects on SGMA 10 years
later

November 27, 2024

7–8 minutes

Water applied to this groundwater recharge basin in Tulare County is one

of many projects farmers are doing to balance critically overdrafted

aquifers under the state’s groundwater law.

Photo/Christopher Hornung

By Christine Souza

California water officials, local water agencies and farmers have spent the

past decade preparing for the 2014 Sustainable Groundwater

Management Act, or SGMA, a historic regulatory framework developed to

bring overdrafted aquifers into balance by 2040.

Under SGMA, local groundwater sustainability agencies must submit

plans that show how the basins will achieve long-term sustainability by

limiting overdraft, land subsidence and impacts to drinking water.

Last March, the California Department of Water Resources rejected

groundwater sustainability plans for the following subbasins: Chowchilla,

Ag Alert about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.agalert.com%2Fcalifornia-a...

1 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:50 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 9

Page 85 of 106



Delta-Mendota, Kaweah, Kern County, Tulare Lake and Tule. The action

by the state triggered the state intervention process, allowing the state

water board to step in to manage the basin if necessary. Basins are in

different stages of the process, but in recent weeks, a meeting to consider

whether to place the Kaweah subbasin under probation was canceled,

while the Kern subbasin is set to appear before the board Feb. 20.

As SGMA implementation takes shape, state and local water officials,

lawmakers, farmers and association leaders commemorated the 10th

anniversary of SGMA last week at the California Natural Resources

Agency in Sacramento. The daylong event featured panel discussions on

the past, present and future of the regulation. The keynote address was

delivered by former Gov. Jerry Brown, who in 2014 signed three pieces of

legislation known collectively as SGMA after the state experienced a

multiyear drought that caused some drinking wells to go dry.

In reflecting on when SGMA was passed, Paul Gosselin, DWR deputy

director for sustainable groundwater management, said, “There was a

sense at that moment that something really, really big was happening.

“The way SGMA is constructed, and the leadership that we’re seeing at

the regional and local levels, is a paradigm shift in California,” Gosselin

said. “It’s a recognition that the answers to a lot of our resource challenges

are not found in Sacramento or Washington, D.C., but across California,

where people actually understand the conditions best.”

Brian Lockwood, general manager of the Pajaro Valley Water

Management Agency, said his agency’s approach includes use of

demand management, an agricultural conservation program, optimizing

existing water supply facilities and working to build new facilities. Other

goals, he said, include tackling seawater intrusion and doing more

groundwater recharge.

Fresno County farmer Don Cameron, president of the California State

Board of Food and Agriculture and member of the state’s Environmental

Farming Act Science Advisory Panel, said it is important that the state be

positioned to take advantage of rainfall during wet years for use in dry

Ag Alert about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.agalert.com%2Fcalifornia-a...

2 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:50 PMPage 86 of 106



years.

“We need to be prepared to capture as much (water) as we can and move

it onto land and store it for periods when we go through drought,” said

Cameron, known as a pioneer in on-farm recharge, or flooding

agricultural lands with water to help restore the groundwater basin. “In the

last 10 years, we had three years of flooding and seven years of drought,

and we’re seeing more of these extremes as we move forward, so we

need to be prepared.”

He suggested improvements to the process to increase adoption of using

flood flows to recharge groundwater.

“We need to have better monitoring on the rivers and streams that feed

these watersheds, and we need to establish parameters that, when we do

hit certain levels, we know that we can go ahead and take water,” he said.

To improve the permitting process for groundwater recharge, Cameron

suggested updates to make it more responsive and simple, and to lower

costs.

Many agencies try to increase basin capacity by working on groundwater

recharge projects, but Gosselin suggested they also start developing

demand management programs to reduce groundwater pumping.

“Every agency should, if they haven’t now, start scoping out what a

demand management program would look like, even if they don’t need to

have one immediately in place,” he said. “You are going to have land-use

changes, changes in water supply, surface-water supply, reliability and

other factors, including climate change.”

California Department of Food and Agriculture Secretary Karen Ross said

few realize that 60% of farms in the state are fewer than 100 acres, and

the vast majority are fewer than 50 acres. She called California farms

“vital to local resilient food systems.”

“They all contribute to this really healthy, nutrient-dense food that we grow

in California that cannot be grown in other states and few other regions in

the world,” Ross said.

Ag Alert about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.agalert.com%2Fcalifornia-a...

3 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:50 PMPage 87 of 106



Researchers studying impacts of SGMA say they anticipate the landmark

law will result in the fallowing of 500,000 to 1 million acres of farmland.

Geoff Vanden Heuvel, director of regulatory and economic affairs for the

Milk Producers Council, expressed concern about a “tremendous

reduction” in market value for farmland. He added, “Most farmers have

debt, and they rely on that equity in their land to get operating loans to be

able to function.

“When you cut those land values by half or more, which is what’s

happening, suddenly even a farmer that was relatively in good shape with

his loan to value rates is upside down,” he said. “That puts an enormous

amount of pressure on that farmer to probably liquidate.”

Vanden Heuvel reminded state water officials that they have a

tremendous responsibility.

“Sometimes, you just have to hear the reality of what’s happening out in

the field,” he said. “The reality is small farmers are in the most vulnerable

position to be able to handle the regulation.”

Alexandra Biering, California Farm Bureau senior policy advocate, spoke

of accomplishments by farmers and local agencies to comply with SGMA

and noted there is more work ahead.

“Ten years in, it is remarkable that more than 90% of the high- and

medium-priority basins have approved groundwater sustainability plans

that are now being implemented,” Biering said. “Nonetheless, the land

use transition under SGMA is already underway and will be painful for

many growers.”

She added, “California Farm Bureau will continue to advocate for policies

and programs that can help minimize impacts to our agricultural economy

and communities.”

(Christine Souza is an assistant editor of Ag Alert. She may be contacted

at csouza@cfbf.com.)

Ag Alert about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.agalert.com%2Fcalifornia-a...

4 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:50 PMPage 88 of 106



santacruzlocal.org

City of Santa Cruz must provide UCSC
with water as university expands - Santa
Cruz Local

Jesse Kathan

5–7 minutes

The Santa Cruz City Council could vote to petition the California Supreme

Court to take up the case. The case will likely be discussed during closed

session of the Dec. 10 city council meeting, but a decision may not be

made that day, said Santa Cruz City Attorney Tony Condotti. The city will

have 60 days after the trial court issues the new ruling to petition the

court. 

Water service is key to UCSC’s 2021 plan to expand its north campus and

boost enrollment to 28,000 students by 2040. But that plan is still in limbo

after a separate court decision in August found that the university hasn’t

sufficiently addressed the environmental and regional impacts of

expansion.

Lawsuit details

Agreements between the city and the university in 1962 and 1965

secured the city’s pledge to provide the campus with water. The lawsuit

hinged on whether those agreements obligate the city to provide water to

areas of the campus outside of city limits. 

The city argued that water service to the north campus, which is outside

the city, requires approval from the Local Agency Formation Commission

of Santa Cruz County, an independent agency that regulates the

City of Santa Cruz must provide UCSC with water as university expands... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsantacruzlocal.org%2F2024%2F...

1 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:51 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 10

Page 89 of 106



boundaries of cities and other jurisdictions. 

LAFCO approval would require the university and city to jointly file for the

city to annex north campus, or pledge to annex it in the future. It would

also require environmental review from the university, legal review from

LAFCO staff, and approval from the seven-member commission. 

The university argued that Santa Cruz already provides water to Colleges

9 and 10, which are outside city limits. Condotti agreed, but said “the city

didn’t waive the right to assert its position that it had maintained for

decades, that further LAFCO approval was required.”

In 2022, a Santa Cruz County Superior Court judge ruled in agreement

with the city that expanded water service beyond city limits requires

LAFCO approval. The Nov. 21 appellate court opinion overturned that

ruling.

“We welcome this decision by the Sixth Court of Appeals and appreciate

their careful review of this case,” UCSC spokesperson Scott Jason-

Hernandez wrote in a statement. 

“UC Santa Cruz has a track record of carefully managing—and reducing

—its water use. The campus is using less water than it did 25 years ago,

when we had many fewer students. Providing water service to all parts of

our residential campus will help UC Santa Cruz build housing,

classrooms, and space for research and creative scholarship, and fulfill its

commitment to the local community and faculty, staff, and students,” he

wrote.

UCSC representatives did not respond to further questions about the

case or plans for north campus.

The appellate court upheld part of the prior ruling that the city did not

violate the 1962 and 1965 agreements by asking for LAFCO approval, as

the university had alleged. “It’s a very serious matter when one public

agency accuses another of breach of contract, and so that was a very

important issue that the city was vindicated on,” Condotti said.

City of Santa Cruz must provide UCSC with water as university expands... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsantacruzlocal.org%2F2024%2F...

2 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:51 PMPage 90 of 106



LAFCO’s role

After a prior legal battle over university expansion plans, the city and the

university in 2008 agreed to jointly apply to LAFCO for water service to the

north campus. Documents from UCSC needed for LAFCO staff to

consider the application were never filed, said Santa Cruz LAFCO

Executive Director Joe Serrano.

Serrano said that although he understood the appellate court’s

interpretation of the 1962 and 1965 agreements, he still believes “LAFCO

needs to play a role” in the city’s expanded water service. But the

organization wasn’t part of the lawsuit. 

“Had LAFCO taken a greater interest in seeing its interpretation of the law

upheld, the court might have looked at [the court case] differently,”

Condotti said.

Serrano said the commission is committed to remaining neutral in

disputes between the university and local governments.

But he said he’s surprised at the appellate court decision, given that UC

Merced in 2003 went through Merced County LAFCO’s approval process

to receive water and sewer service from the city of Merced. The university

was annexed into the city in July 2024. “Why is it that the Regents are

going through the LAFCO process in one county but not in another?”

Serrano asked. “To me, that’s a little confusing.”

A 2021 map of planned development on UC Santa Cruz’s campus shows

the City of Santa Cruz boundary in a yellow dotted line. (LAFCO)

Looking forward

In August, the City of Santa Cruz prevailed in a separate lawsuit over the

university’s 2021 Long Range Development Plan, which would add more

than 8,000 students to campus by 2040. 

The plan calls for development across campus, including new academic

buildings north of McLaughlin Drive, employee housing west of Empire

City of Santa Cruz must provide UCSC with water as university expands... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsantacruzlocal.org%2F2024%2F...

3 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:51 PMPage 91 of 106



Grade, and expanded student housing near Chinquapin Road — all

areas outside city limits.

In the suit between the university and the city, Santa Cruz County, and two

community groups, a Santa Cruz Superior Court judge ruled that the

university’s environmental review hadn’t sufficiently accounted for the

additional students’ potential impact on housing markets, water use,

wildlife and evacuation plans. The university has until Dec. 24 to file an

appeal.

Condotti said “there have been talks periodically” between the university

and the city in hopes that both conflicts can be resolved without further

legal battles. “Those efforts to date have not been successful,” he said.

City of Santa Cruz must provide UCSC with water as university expands... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsantacruzlocal.org%2F2024%2F...

4 of 4 12/11/2024, 2:51 PMPage 92 of 106



lookout.co

Appeals court sides with UCSC over
water access dispute with City of Santa
Cruz

Hillary Ojeda

6–7 minutes

A view of the UC Santa Cruz campus from the air. Credit: Kevin

Painchaud / Lookout Santa Cruz

Quick Take

A California appeals court ruled that the City of Santa Cruz must provide

water access to UC Santa Cruz property located beyond city boundaries.

The ruling, the latest in a years-long legal dispute, overturns a 2022

judgment by a Santa Cruz judge that found the city wasn’t required to

provide the service unless a local commission approved it.

The City of Santa Cruz is required to provide water access to the UC

Santa Cruz campus, including its land outside the city limits, and doesn’t

Appeals court sides with UCSC over water access dispute with City of ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fappeals-court-sides...

1 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:53 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 11

Page 93 of 106



need approval from a local commission to do so, a state appellate court

ruled last week. 

UCSC officials have long planned to build housing in the northern part of

the campus, including on parts of the campus that are outside the city’s

boundaries. 

The Sixth District Court of Appeal on Nov. 21 reversed a decision by a

Santa Cruz County Superior Court judge, issued in fall of 2022, that found

the city wasn’t required to provide water access to the university’s

property outside of city limits without approval from Santa Cruz Local

Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO). 

The lawsuit, filed in 2020 by the university against the city, asserted that

the city was obligated to provide water access based on agreements

between the parties dating back to 1962 and 1965, when UCSC was

established. The city argued that based on its interpretation of those

agreements, it wasn’t required to provide water access to the school

outside of city boundaries. 

Advertisement

Santa Cruz city attorney Tony Condotti said that the issues at the heart of

the lawsuit are largely technical, as the city has already incorporated the

university’s projected water use into its plans. 

“In so far as the city is concerned, it doesn’t have any real impact upon the

city’s water supply or infrastructure planning,” he said. “It goes to the

question of whether or not … prior to providing water service that will be

used for development outside of city limits, LAFCO approval is required.

We had argued in the trial court that it was required.”

Appeals court sides with UCSC over water access dispute with City of ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fappeals-court-sides...

2 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:53 PMPage 94 of 106



LAFCOS are service planning agencies that have regulatory and

planning powers; they’re located in all 58 counties across the state. The

agencies also oversee government agencies. Santa Cruz County’s 11-

member LAFCO is made up of county supervisors, city councilmembers

from Santa Cruz, Watsonville and Scotts Valley, along with other local

elected officials and two members of the public.

The court ruled that the city did not need LAFCO’s approval in order to

provide water to the parts of campus outside of city limits, in part because

it had already been providing water to areas of UCSC outside of city

boundaries for decades. 

An image provided by Santa Cruz LAFCO shows proposed projects on

UCSC’s north campus area outside of city limits. Credit: Via Santa Cruz

LAFCO

“The undisputed extrinsic evidence shows that the parties intended the

Appeals court sides with UCSC over water access dispute with City of ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fappeals-court-sides...

3 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:53 PMPage 95 of 106



city to provide water service through its lines that could then be used for

distribution to any part of the UC Santa Cruz campus, without any

distinction as to whether the water served new development or parts of

the campus outside city limits,” the three members of the appeals court

wrote in their ruling.

Lookout was unable to reach LAFCO executive officer Joe Serrano by

publication time. 

Advertisement

UCSC spokesperson Scott Hernandez-Jason said the university is happy

with the decision. He added that the ruling upholds its understanding of

the decades-old agreements between the city and the University of

California regents. 

“UC Santa Cruz has a track record of carefully managing — and reducing

— its water use,” he wrote. “The campus is using less water than it did 25

years ago, when we had many fewer students. Providing water service to

all parts of our residential campus will help UC Santa Cruz build housing,

classrooms, and space for research and creative scholarship, and fulfill its

commitment to the local community and faculty, staff, and students.” 

The appellate court reversed the Santa Cruz County Superior Court’s

decision on Sept. 30, 2022, and directed the Santa Cruz court to enter a

new order. 

Condotti said the Santa Cruz City Council will ultimately decide whether

the city will pursue further legal action in the case or to accept the

appellate court’s ruling. 

“We’re going to evaluate the decision and then we will consult with the city

Appeals court sides with UCSC over water access dispute with City of ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fappeals-court-sides...

4 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:53 PMPage 96 of 106



council about next steps, which may include seeking Supreme Court

review, or the city council may decide to accept the decision of the court of

appeal,” he said. “That’s a decision that we haven’t had a chance to

consult with the city council on, and so we will be evaluating our position

and advising the council.”

In its long-term planning document, called the Long Range Development

Plan, the university has included plans to develop four new residential

colleges in the north campus area. 

Two of them would be located northeast of the academic core and the

other two would be located northwest of the academic core. The plan also

shows a proposed academic building development adjacent to the two

northwest residential college buildings. 

Have something to say? Lookout welcomes letters to the editor,

within our policies, from readers. Guidelines here.

Advertisement

After three years of reporting on public safety in Iowa, Hillary joins Lookout

Santa Cruz with a curious eye toward the county’s education beat. At the

Iowa City Press-Citizen, she focused on how local... More by Hillary

Ojeda

Appeals court sides with UCSC over water access dispute with City of ... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Flookout.co%2Fappeals-court-sides...

5 of 5 12/11/2024, 2:53 PMPage 97 of 106



Fire protection districts sign on for unification I News I mtdemocrat.com https ://www.mtdemocrat.com/news/fire-protection-districts-sign-on-for- ... 

1 of3 

https://www.mtdemocrat.com/news/fire-protection-districts-sign-on-for-unification/artic1e_d780c7e2-
ab5b-11 ef-8c84-87a456a49ea7.html 

I F E A T U R E D  I 

Fire protection districts sign on for unification 
Odin Rasco 

Nov 27, 2024 

Diamond Springs-El Dorado Fire Protection District Chief Matt Gallagher, left, and El Dorado County Fire Protection 
District Chief Tim Cordero stand side by side shortly after the boards of their respective agencies approved resolutions 
officially beginning annexation efforts. Mountain Democrat photo by Odin Rasco • • • • • • 

Privacy • Terms 

12/11/2024, 2:54 PM 

9A: ATTACHMENT 12

Page 98 of 106



Fire protection districts sign on for unification | News | mtdemocrat.com https://www.mtdemocrat.com/news/fire-protection-districts-sign-on-for-...

2 of 3 12/11/2024, 2:54 PMPage 99 of 106



Fire protection districts sign on for unification | News | mtdemocrat.com https://www.mtdemocrat.com/news/fire-protection-districts-sign-on-for-...

3 of 3 12/11/2024, 2:54 PMPage 100 of 106



Signs were placed around La Jolla encouraging people to sign a petition supportingSigns were placed around La Jolla encouraging people to sign a petition supporting
potential cityhood. (Mark Munoz)potential cityhood. (Mark Munoz)

LA JOLLA LIGHTLA JOLLA LIGHT

La Jolla cityhood petition driveLa Jolla cityhood petition drive
ends with ‘well over’ 7,000ends with ‘well over’ 7,000
signaturessignatures
The Association for the City of La Jolla now hasThe Association for the City of La Jolla now has

until Dec. 15 to submit the petitions foruntil Dec. 15 to submit the petitions for

validation before the next steps in the processvalidation before the next steps in the process

can begincan begin

ONLY $1 FOR 1ONLY $1 FOR 1
YEARYEAR
Hurry, this deal won't last!Hurry, this deal won't last!

SAVE NOW SAVE NOW FLASHFLASH
SALE!SALE!

12/11/24, 2:59 PM La Jolla cityhood petition drive ends with ‘well over’ 7,000 signatures – San Diego Union-Tribune

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/12/04/la-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures/ 1/8

9A: ATTACHMENT 13

Page 101 of 106

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/la-jolla-light/
https://checkout.sandiegouniontribune.com/nolandingS2?ofrgp_id=2250&g2i_source=DI&g2i_medium=toaster&g2i_campaign=mg2pw05-fsf&g2i_or_o=Internt5&g2i_or_p=mg2pw05&G2I_ActionId=124935&returnUrl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sandiegouniontribune.com%2F2024%2F12%2F04%2Fla-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures%2F%3FclearUserState%3Dtrue


By By ASHLEY MACKIN SOLOMONASHLEY MACKIN SOLOMON |  | ashleym@lajollalight.comashleym@lajollalight.com

PUBLISHED: PUBLISHED: December 4, 2024 at 12:12 PM PSTDecember 4, 2024 at 12:12 PM PST

A six-month signature-gathering drive that is a key step toward La JollaA six-month signature-gathering drive that is a key step toward La Jolla

potentially detaching from San Diego and forming its own city ended Dec. 1potentially detaching from San Diego and forming its own city ended Dec. 1

with the Association for the City of La Jolla reporting that it exceeded its goalwith the Association for the City of La Jolla reporting that it exceeded its goal

of 7,000 signatures.of 7,000 signatures.

It now has until Sunday, Dec. 15, to submit the petitions to the San DiegoIt now has until Sunday, Dec. 15, to submit the petitions to the San Diego

County registrar of voters office and the San Diego Local Agency FormationCounty registrar of voters office and the San Diego Local Agency Formation

Commission, or LAFCO, which helps guide communities seeking toCommission, or LAFCO, which helps guide communities seeking to

incorporate.incorporate.

As part of the required cityhood process, the association As part of the required cityhood process, the association began collectingbegan collecting

petition signaturespetition signatures June 1, needing support from at least 25% of La Jolla June 1, needing support from at least 25% of La Jolla

registered voters for the effort to continue.registered voters for the effort to continue.

Based on the number of registered voters with full-time residency in La Jolla,Based on the number of registered voters with full-time residency in La Jolla,

the number of valid signatures needed is 6,536. Association members werethe number of valid signatures needed is 6,536. Association members were

looking to gather at least 7,000 as a buffer should some later be deemedlooking to gather at least 7,000 as a buffer should some later be deemed

invalid after being submitted.invalid after being submitted.

Association board member Sharon Wampler told the Association board member Sharon Wampler told the La Jolla LightLa Jolla Light that “we that “we

are at well over 7,000 signatures, approaching 8,000. It’s been really inspiringare at well over 7,000 signatures, approaching 8,000. It’s been really inspiring

to see the community rally in support of this.”to see the community rally in support of this.”

Group President Trace Wilson said he is “super proud of the team workingGroup President Trace Wilson said he is “super proud of the team working

tirelessly for six months and thrilled with the community response.”tirelessly for six months and thrilled with the community response.”

ONLY $1 FOR 1ONLY $1 FOR 1
YEARYEAR
Hurry, this deal won't last!Hurry, this deal won't last!

SAVE NOW SAVE NOW FLASHFLASH
SALE!SALE!

12/11/24, 2:59 PM La Jolla cityhood petition drive ends with ‘well over’ 7,000 signatures – San Diego Union-Tribune

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/12/04/la-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures/ 2/8
Page 102 of 106

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/author/ashley-mackin-solomon/
mailto:ashleym@lajollalight.com
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/06/05/group-behind-la-jolla-cityhood-effort-launches-signature-gathering-drive/
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/06/05/group-behind-la-jolla-cityhood-effort-launches-signature-gathering-drive/
https://checkout.sandiegouniontribune.com/nolandingS2?ofrgp_id=2250&g2i_source=DI&g2i_medium=toaster&g2i_campaign=mg2pw05-fsf&g2i_or_o=Internt5&g2i_or_p=mg2pw05&G2I_ActionId=124935&returnUrl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sandiegouniontribune.com%2F2024%2F12%2F04%2Fla-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures%2F%3FclearUserState%3Dtrue


What’s nextWhat’s next

The organization’s effort for La Jolla to become a city began with privateThe organization’s effort for La Jolla to become a city began with private

meetings in 2021 and continued with public forums and a financial feasibilitymeetings in 2021 and continued with public forums and a financial feasibility

analysis that has been underway since September 2022.analysis that has been underway since September 2022.

More than a year ago, the association said initial numbers in a More than a year ago, the association said initial numbers in a draft of thedraft of the

feasibility reportfeasibility report by  by Richard BerksonRichard Berkson of urban economics company  of urban economics company BerksonBerkson

AssociatesAssociates looked promising, without providing specifics. A final draft has not looked promising, without providing specifics. A final draft has not

been released. Wilson said the analysis will not be considered final until it isbeen released. Wilson said the analysis will not be considered final until it is

submitted to LAFCO.submitted to LAFCO.

If the group’s petition passes LAFCO review, the next series of steps canIf the group’s petition passes LAFCO review, the next series of steps can

begin.begin.

Among them are submitting the feasibility study and LAFCO’s considerationAmong them are submitting the feasibility study and LAFCO’s consideration

of the formal cityhood proposal. That analysis is expected to take nine to 12of the formal cityhood proposal. That analysis is expected to take nine to 12

months.months.

If LAFCO approves the proposal, the plan would go to public voting in which aIf LAFCO approves the proposal, the plan would go to public voting in which a

majority both of La Jollans and the rest of San Diego would need to supportmajority both of La Jollans and the rest of San Diego would need to support

La Jolla’s secession. The association hopes to have the initiative on the ballotLa Jolla’s secession. The association hopes to have the initiative on the ballot

in 2026.in 2026.

However, to launch the next steps, the association is looking to raise $200,000However, to launch the next steps, the association is looking to raise $200,000

to cover LAFCO application fees, legal fees and required additional analysis.to cover LAFCO application fees, legal fees and required additional analysis.

Wampler said the group “would like the majority of funding [to be] raised byWampler said the group “would like the majority of funding [to be] raised by

Jan. 1 and will continue fundraising until Jan. 24” in anticipation of a Jan. 31Jan. 1 and will continue fundraising until Jan. 24” in anticipation of a Jan. 31

application deadline.application deadline.

ONLY $1 FOR 1ONLY $1 FOR 1
YEARYEAR
Hurry, this deal won't last!Hurry, this deal won't last!

SAVE NOW SAVE NOW FLASHFLASH
SALE!SALE!

12/11/24, 2:59 PM La Jolla cityhood petition drive ends with ‘well over’ 7,000 signatures – San Diego Union-Tribune

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/12/04/la-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures/ 3/8
Page 103 of 106

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2023/11/02/the-numbers-look-good-in-draft-financial-impact-study-for-potential-la-jolla-cityhood-local-group-says/
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2023/11/02/the-numbers-look-good-in-draft-financial-impact-study-for-potential-la-jolla-cityhood-local-group-says/
https://www.lajollalight.com/real-estate/story/2023-07-16/getting-fiscal-analyst-for-la-jolla-cityhood-effort-goes-inside-the-numbers-of-local-property-taxes
https://berksonassociates.com/
https://berksonassociates.com/
https://checkout.sandiegouniontribune.com/nolandingS2?ofrgp_id=2250&g2i_source=DI&g2i_medium=toaster&g2i_campaign=mg2pw05-fsf&g2i_or_o=Internt5&g2i_or_p=mg2pw05&G2I_ActionId=124935&returnUrl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sandiegouniontribune.com%2F2024%2F12%2F04%2Fla-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures%2F%3FclearUserState%3Dtrue


“We are going to be reaching out to the community for donations at all“We are going to be reaching out to the community for donations at all

levels,” said Wilson, who added that donations can be made on thelevels,” said Wilson, who added that donations can be made on the

association website, association website, cityoflajolla.orgcityoflajolla.org..

The organization already raised $60,000 in donations for Berkson’s financialThe organization already raised $60,000 in donations for Berkson’s financial

analysis.analysis.

Given that the majority of San Diego residents also would need to vote for LaGiven that the majority of San Diego residents also would need to vote for La

Jolla’s detachment, the association is looking to raise an additional $175,000Jolla’s detachment, the association is looking to raise an additional $175,000

to hire a political strategist to help promote the idea throughout San Diego.to hire a political strategist to help promote the idea throughout San Diego.

“Right now, the polls are stacked against La Jolla,” Wilson said of a poll the“Right now, the polls are stacked against La Jolla,” Wilson said of a poll the

association took over the summer that indicated support from about 40% ofassociation took over the summer that indicated support from about 40% of

the 400 people surveyed.the 400 people surveyed.

The proposed city’s boundaries largely align with the 92037 ZIP code,The proposed city’s boundaries largely align with the 92037 ZIP code,

stretching north-south from Del Mar to Pacific Beach and east-west fromstretching north-south from Del Mar to Pacific Beach and east-west from

Interstate 5 to the ocean, excluding UC San Diego and Scripps MemorialInterstate 5 to the ocean, excluding UC San Diego and Scripps Memorial

Hospital. ♦Hospital. ♦

Around the WebAround the Web

Seniors Can Now Fly Business ClassSeniors Can Now Fly Business Class

for The Price of Economy Using Thisfor The Price of Economy Using This

HackHack
Online Shopping ToolsOnline Shopping Tools

ONLY $1 FOR 1ONLY $1 FOR 1
YEARYEAR
Hurry, this deal won't last!Hurry, this deal won't last!

SAVE NOW SAVE NOW FLASHFLASH
SALE!SALE!

12/11/24, 2:59 PM La Jolla cityhood petition drive ends with ‘well over’ 7,000 signatures – San Diego Union-Tribune

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/12/04/la-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures/ 4/8
Page 104 of 106

http://cityoflajolla.org/
https://smeagol.revcontent.com/cv/v3/qaUDRTdaKMfKDVRROUJ83Hot-ddyOfu9XfnUYnWQiNFT2x_5wn-G8rmivLQjcYe5wtwNdEhAVBiNfLq-VtOm6_xNi4d50JWdbDy8Wt0pjMIzJVrzC7OGbMD9SLmW7trG1QUBm_aOBrsJb5hzh2Pm26cw2yxNy2rLW8SuBOIqjM3zd4ZPANsiU8BWTQyG2aTP5KeyOYaVvnPKnoiZK9_s0tS17RaZaFpmtJLElwQ6wfgk9vGhnXclsTtIFFDpzV4Au2GTMnJiz73y54zvXbVatNx_GqHRu90OsA6wHr8elMVwZX7In6Xn9lH1uqhHqwqqUa_Ig-ewcWfH7NUO22BZ8dQewy8Q5qFB7JTAWKKfLYqtqqnO5UD6r5NNy44LCNQi_9j3dQV96pfnDsyIb2TJ8TKtZIcqgYN6uceu47beUTRcEARq5MQ00iY4k-WLwGXnHbmlax-hD5xZbYFdu9vIU7A0x4IFvNlns7QTlnZN79UiKfsjfyvCBr7M52jbUbIu9gigCHCFFLdKFOBTtu5zckUxbfuO7fc3xzqzTazLi7TpFN1_?p=GgFDMPGx6LoGOiQ4OWY2OGM4OC0zNTA3LTQ4YzYtODk1ZS0yMGJmNzQwM2UwNGZCJGM1ZmZhNDE0LThkMmQtNGIzYy04YTQxLTYxMzFjYzI2Zjg0MkoLd2hpZS13YWxrZXJQuM4LWMCcEWIYc2FuZGllZ291bmlvbnRyaWJ1bmUuY29tagdkZXNrdG9wkAEB2AGyjvABkQIpXI_C9SjsP6oCDjYzLjE5NC4xOTAuMTAw6gIRCghncmF5X2ltcBIFZmFsc2XqAhIKCXRlc3RfbW9kZRIFZmFsc2XqAhcKDnVwc2NhbGVkX2ltYWdlEgVmYWxzZQ
https://checkout.sandiegouniontribune.com/nolandingS2?ofrgp_id=2250&g2i_source=DI&g2i_medium=toaster&g2i_campaign=mg2pw05-fsf&g2i_or_o=Internt5&g2i_or_p=mg2pw05&G2I_ActionId=124935&returnUrl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sandiegouniontribune.com%2F2024%2F12%2F04%2Fla-jolla-cityhood-petition-drive-ends-with-well-over-7000-signatures%2F%3FclearUserState%3Dtrue


danvillesanramon.com

LAFCO approves Con Fire annexing
Rodeo-Hercules district

Bay City News Service

2–3 minutes

The Rodeo-Hercules Fire Protection District will officially join the Contra

Costa County Fire Protection District. 

The Contra Costa County Local Agency Formation Commission

(LAFCO) unanimously approved the annexation last week.

LAFCO said in a statement the annexation is expected to be effective on

July 1, 2025.  

Con Fire will absorb all of Rodeo-Hercules’ firefighters, support staff,

facilities, apparatus and equipment into its operations.

“After years of careful study and deliberation, I’m very pleased and

grateful for the Contra Costa County Local Agency Formation

Commission’s approval of our district’s annexation into the Contra Costa

County Fire Protection District,” Delano Doss, chairman of the Rodeo-

Hercules Fire Protection District Board of Directors, said in a statement.

“Once implemented in mid-2025, residents in the communities of Rodeo

and Hercules will receive significantly enhanced fire, rescue and EMS

services provided by our firefighters, thanks to the exceptional resources

of Contra Costa Fire,” Doss said. “This is a huge win for everyone in

Rodeo and Hercules, as well as for our dedicated firefighters — and it

doesn’t cost residents a single extra penny in taxes.”

LAFCO approves Con Fire annexing Rodeo-Hercules district - Danvill... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.danvillesanramon.com%2Ff...

1 of 2 1/16/2025, 12:02 PM

9A: ATTACHMENT 14

Page 105 of 106



Con Fire officials said when the annexation occurs, residents can expect

a seamless transition and a continued high level of emergency response

and community connectivity. Benefits will also include increased fire

services and improved firefighter safety throughout the entire service

area.

Con Fire, which completed its annexation of the former East Contra Costa

Fire Protection District in July 2022, now provides fire service to more than

770,000 residents in 12 cities and 10 unincorporated areas over 553

square miles. The San Ramon Valley is now one of just three areas in

Contra Costa County with fire districts separate from Con Fire — along

with the Kensington and Moraga-Orinda fire protection districts. 

— Story by Tony Hicks, Bay City News Service. DanvilleSanRamon

editorial director Jeremy Walsh contributed local information.

Most Popular

LAFCO approves Con Fire annexing Rodeo-Hercules district - Danvill... about:reader?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.danvillesanramon.com%2Ff...

2 of 2 1/16/2025, 12:02 PMPage 106 of 106


	0.0 Feb 2025 Agenda
	3.0 Draft Minutes (November 6th Meeting)
	7a.0 Appoint Chair.Vice Chair Staff Report
	7a.1 Attachment - Commission Roster

	7b.0 CSA 38 MSR Follow-Up Staff Report
	7c.0 UC Wtr Rpt Staff Report
	7c.1 Attachment - UC Wtr Rpt
	7c.2 Attachment - Joint Ltr

	7d.0 Qtrly Update Staff Report
	7d.1 Attachment - FY 24-25 Qtrly Report

	9a.0 Press Articles Staff Report
	9a.1 Attachment - CHW Newsletter 10-31-24
	9a.2 Attachment - PVHCD 11-1-24
	9a.3 Attachment - Felton FPD 11-1-24
	9a.4 Attachment - PVWMA 11-5-24
	9a.5 Attachment - SLVWD New GM 11-7-24
	9a.6 Attachment - CSA 48 11-12-24
	9a.7 Attachment - Nevada LAFCO 11-22-24
	9a.8 Attachment - OC LAFCO 11-23-24
	9a.9 Attachment - SGMA 11-27-24
	9a.10 Attachment - UCSC LAFCO 11-27-24
	9a.11 Attachment - UCSC Ruling 11-27-24
	9a.12 Attachment - El Dorado LAFCO 11-27-24
	9a.13 Attachment - San Diego LAFCO 12-4-24
	9a.14 Attachment - CC LAFCO LAFCO 12-23-24




